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          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone.  I call to order this meeting of the City

          4  Council Committee on Sanitation and Solid Waste

          5  Management.

          6                 The purpose of today's Hearing is an

          7  Oversight Hearing of the Sanitation Department

          8  regarding the future of the City's recycling

          9  program.  We will also discuss a piece of

         10  legislation, which I will mention in a moment.

         11                 I had, about two and a half years

         12  ago, a very, very bad nightmare.  I dreamed, and you

         13  can't, you may not believe this, but I actually had

         14  a dream that because of budgetary problems, the

         15  Administration thought it would be a good idea to

         16  cut the recycling program.  Now, it was a terrible

         17  nightmare, and it was a long nightmare and a long

         18  dream.  But, as I sit here now, and I see the

         19  Commissioner's here and I know his love of recycling

         20  has never wavered, and I see the wonderful package

         21  that has been presented to us, I realize that it

         22  must have been something bad that I ate that would

         23  make me have a nightmare that horrible.

         24                 I'm happy to say that we are back to

         25  a point where I think everyone agrees that recycling
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          2  is going to be an integral part of the City's Solid

          3  Waste Management Plan.  In fact, so much so that in

          4  a document that, and I don't think I leak anything

          5  here, in a document that will, is becoming public or

          6  soon to become public regarding the future of solid

          7  waste management in the City, the Department goes on

          8  to say that it is looking at new initiatives to

          9  develop or that are being planned and I quote "to

         10  maintain and enhance the City's prominence as a

         11  national leader in waste prevention, recycling and

         12  composting."  So, that says to me that the dream I

         13  had about the cuts in recycling and composting and

         14  Christmas tree pick- up was a very bad dream indeed.

         15                 What we'd like to do now is we have

         16  to work together with the Administration to look at

         17  the tonnage requirements in Local Law 19, and I

         18  think we also need to develop strategies as to how

         19  we can further strengthen the existing laws

         20  regarding recycling, and I'm sure the Commissioner

         21  will tell us how we're doing currently under the,

         22  the reinstatement of the law, as well as to talk

         23  about ways and start to look at ways that we can

         24  even help the recycling program grow.  Because, one

         25  thing we all agree on, without question, the more
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          2  garbage we create and have to dispose of, the more

          3  it costs the City and the worse, clearly, it is for

          4  our environment.  I think that is something that is

          5  not a new revelation for anyone.  I think that

          6  that's something we can agree on without any

          7  question.

          8                 The question then becomes, how much

          9  can we recycle so that it's cost- effective and

         10  within our budget process that is also, has certain

         11  constraints on what we can do.  Certainly, we need

         12  to look at, I'm looking at one more document here I

         13  wanted to refer to, oh, exactly.

         14                 So, I think, you know, some of the

         15  examples of things we need to look at are electronic

         16  equipment, the plastics numbers three through seven

         17  that we don't capture now, textiles, food and

         18  organic waste, even furniture and increase the

         19  recycling of building materials.  So, that's why we

         20  are here today, to hear from the Department and to

         21  partner with them, as we have in the past, in the

         22  further advocacy of recycling as a great way to

         23  reduce waste to make the garbage system manageable

         24  in the City.

         25                 We will also, we also have with us
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          2  today Council Member Oliver G. Koppell, who has

          3  introduced Intro. Number 70, that provides a plan to

          4  have batteries, particularly highly hazardous

          5  rechargeable batteries, returned to retailers to be

          6  recycled by their manufacturers.  This bill is

          7  modeled after New York's highly effective Bottle

          8  Bill, which was also authored by Council Member

          9  Koppell, and it provides for refundable deposits on

         10  all batteries sold in the City.

         11                 So, having said that, we are joined

         12  by Council Member Koppell, thank you, as well as

         13  Council Member Jim Gennaro, Chairman of the

         14  Committee on Environmental Protection, and Robert

         15  Jackson as well is here, and he is the Chairman of

         16  the Committee on Contracts, and as well as John Liu,

         17  who we're glad to see and maybe is going to join the

         18  Committee, you never know, he's starting to get into

         19  the trash a little bit.  So, we're hoping. Anytime.

         20                 So, Commissioner, thank you for your

         21  patience and thank you, as always, for responding to

         22  our requests and forthright with the information and

         23  also your presence here is much appreciated.  So, if

         24  you would present us with your testimony, we'd be

         25  grateful.

                                                            8

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Good afternoon

          3  Chairman McMahon and Members of the Committee on

          4  Sanitation and Solid Waste.  I'm John Doherty, the

          5  Sanitation Commissioner.  With me today, to my

          6  right, is Deputy Commissioner Bob Orlin, for Legal

          7  Affairs, and Director of Recycling, Bob Lange, on my

          8  left.  Bob Orlin is here so that when you ask me

          9  questions later on, I'm well represented and Bob

         10  Lange is here to make sure I tell the truth and the

         11  whole truth about recycling.

         12                 I also have ready, if we go into

         13  extra innings, Deputy Commissioner Larry Cipollina

         14  for Finance and First Deputy Commissioner Michael

         15  Bimonte.  So, hopefully, we're prepared. With me

         16  today, I went through that, upon concluding my

         17  testimony, we will be happy to answer any questions

         18  you may have.

         19                 Realistic and cost- effective waste

         20  management and recycling programs are key components

         21  to the City's long- term solid waste strategy.  As

         22  the City's recycling program matured, has matured in

         23  its 16th year of operation, the Department is

         24  determined to sustain a robust local recycling reuse

         25  industry that will continue to increase the
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          2  diversion of materials from the export waste stream.

          3                 The City's commitment to advancing

          4  its current recycling program is evident in the Long

          5  Term Solid Waste Management Plan, which has been

          6  released this week, and that can be found a website,

          7  the Department of Sanitation's website if anybody's

          8  interested, this is available now.  However, you may

          9  not, you, however, you have not invited us here

         10  today to discuss the long term plan, as that will be

         11  subject of other Hearings in the months ahead.

         12  Rather, I will focus my testimony on the subject of

         13  today's Hearing, the Department's current recycling

         14  initiatives and their future direction.

         15                 Since I last appeared before the

         16  Committee six months ago, in April, to discuss the

         17  state of the City's recycling program, significant

         18  achievements have been achieved. Lat month, Mayor

         19  Bloomberg announced a long- term economically viable

         20  plan for New York City's recyclables that advanced

         21  the City's goal to dramatically reduce traffic, and

         22  instead, relies predominantly on a waterborne

         23  transportation system.

         24                 We will be shortly entering into a

         25  20- year agreement with Hugo Neu Corporation to
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          2  build a modern recycling facility at the 30th Street

          3  Pier along the Brooklyn waterfront. This facility

          4  will process approximately 300,000 tons of metal,

          5  glass and plastic the Department collects annually

          6  at a cost that is nearly $20 million less than the

          7  price the City would have paid two years ago.

          8                 The new contract, the details of

          9  which are being negotiated, will fix the amount the

         10  City must pay for this service at no more than

         11  approximately $50.00 a ton, compared to the $107.00,

         12  which was the average bid price the City was getting

         13  just two years ago for the same services.  This

         14  project will provide stability to the New York

         15  City's recycling program

         16                 The Department recognizes that

         17  electronic goods will represent a, represent a

         18  growing portion of the City's waste stream over the

         19  next 20- year planning period.  Computers, monitors

         20  and printers contain cathode ray tubes, circuit

         21  boards or other electronic components that may

         22  contain hazardous material.

         23                 Earlier this year, the Department

         24  worked with Dell Computers and Lexmark to award a

         25  local non- profit organization a grant to coordinate
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          2  with the Department the operation of electronic

          3  drop- off events City- wide.  The Department

          4  promoted this program through a mailer recently sent

          5  to all City households.

          6                 The Department is also committed to

          7  promoting its organic waste composting program that

          8  will further the Department's goal of reducing

          9  waste.  The Department will resume seasonal leaf,

         10  yard waste, pumpkin and Christmas tree collections

         11  for composting this Fall.  It will also resume

         12  educational programs for voluntary backyard

         13  composting initiatives in cooperation with the

         14  City's four Botanical Gardens and will re introduce

         15  the Department's subsidized compost bin promotion

         16  program.  The Department will also continue to

         17  promote its compost facility to residential

         18  landscapers.

         19                 This Fall, the Department will work

         20  with the New York City Economic Development

         21  Corporation to conduct a study to investigate the

         22  feasibility of an on- site food waste composting

         23  facility at the Hunts Point Distribution Center.  If

         24  the study determines it is feasible to recycle

         25  degradable waste at the Food Center in an economic
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          2  and environmentally sound manner, the Hunts Point

          3  Food Distribution Center, in cooperation with the

          4  Department of, Economic Development Corporation and

          5  Food Center's landlord, the Food Center's landlord,

          6  will prepare a Request for Proposal to solicit

          7  vendors for the commercial development of this type

          8  of facility.

          9                 Industrial reclamation of certain

         10  batteries used by consumers to power a variety of

         11  household electronic products have been underway for

         12  at least a decade.  Established in 1994 by the

         13  battery industry, the Rechargeable Battery Recycling

         14  Corporation is a non- profit organization that

         15  currently recycles nickel- cadmium, nickel- metal

         16  hydride, lithium and small- sealed lead rechargeable

         17  batteries.

         18                 Since its inception, the Recyclable

         19  (sic) Battery Recycling Corporation has recycled

         20  more than 20 million pounds of rechargeable

         21  batteries.  This battery redemption program is fee,

         22  free for consumers, retailers, communities and

         23  public agencies. There are dozens of participating

         24  retailers located throughout New York City, where

         25  residents can drop- off their used rechargeable
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          2  batteries.  Radio Shack and Staples are among the

          3  retailers with the greatest number of participating

          4  stores. Also, Verizon Wireless, Cingular Wireless

          5  and other retailers accept rechargeable batteries

          6  for recycling through the Recycling (sic) Battery

          7  Recycling Corporation.

          8                 The Department is expanding some of

          9  its current prevention initiatives.  For example, in

         10  the mid- 1990's, the Department established its New

         11  York, NYC Stuff Exchange automated hotline to

         12  promote reuse outlets throughout the City.  The

         13  reuse outlets are local businesses and organizations

         14  that assist residents in donating, obtaining,

         15  selling and refurbishing second- hand goods.  To

         16  reach additional segments of the City's population,

         17  the Department plans to establish an NYC Stuff

         18  Exchange website as a companion service to the

         19  automated phone based system.

         20                 Additionally, since 1997, New York

         21  Wa$teMatch, a Department- sponsored industrial

         22  materials exchange program, has linked companies

         23  seeking to discard materials with other entities

         24  that have a use for them.  In addition to servicing

         25  the manufacturing sector, the New York Wa$teMatch
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          2  intends to expand to serve other business sectors

          3  such as the hospitality, healthcare and property

          4  management sectors.  New York Waste Management will

          5  also continue to pursue opportunities to assist

          6  local manufacturers to meet the demand for local

          7  manufactured green building products.

          8                 The Department will also continue to

          9  enhance its current public outreach and education

         10  efforts to increase the diversion of recyclables

         11  from the waste stream.  The Department plans to

         12  introduce an electronic newsletter shortly that will

         13  cover topics related to new developments in the

         14  City's recycling program, seasonal recycling

         15  initiatives, and updated waste prevention tips.  The

         16  Department also plans to contract the services of a

         17  professional market research firm to assess what New

         18  York know, New Yorkers know and think about waste

         19  prevention, recycling and composting in order to

         20  update its educational materials and advertising

         21  campaigns.

         22                 In combination, the strength of these

         23  efforts and the robust programs they support

         24  demonstrate the City's continued commitment to

         25  diverting as much material as possible from the
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          2  tonnage that must transferred and exported for

          3  disposal.  We'd now be happy to answer any of your

          4  questions.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  See, I knew it

          6  was, that was just a bad dream I had had, because I,

          7  in that dream, I think you, maybe even said that we

          8  weren't going to recycle anymore and here we are

          9  talking not only about MPG and paper, but all these

         10  other ideas.  It's, what a terrible dream that was.

         11  But, thank you for that testimony.  Just, you were

         12  talking about the education program, do you have any

         13  idea what type of budget numbers you'll be

         14  requesting next year for education?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think we

         16  have to be realistic, first of all, about next

         17  year's budget.  As I understand it, I think it's

         18  going to be a difficult budget year and a lot will

         19  have to be done to balance the budget.

         20                 As of right now, our budget for this

         21  year, and I expect it will carry into next year,

         22  besides the money that we have to pay for the metal,

         23  glass and plastic recycling, there's approximately

         24  $11 million in there, anywhere from, I'll say seven

         25  to eight million will probably be spent on outreach
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          2  and education programs of various types.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  So, that's sort

          4  of an increase, I think, it the last two years, we

          5  were more around $5 million, is that?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yea, a lot of

          7  depends on how Bob spends it and how much his needs

          8  are.  You know, printing can be very expensive and

          9  that's part of the cost, and you know, some of the

         10  contracts we have with these other, Botanical

         11  Gardens, for example, and Wa$teMatch and stuff like

         12  that.  We have to look at how we spend it.  But,

         13  altogether, you know, when you look at what we're

         14  going to spend on outreach, getting out to the

         15  public and talking about recycling, you're probably

         16  in that range somewhere.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay.  We've

         18  been joined by Council Member Jose Serrano from the

         19  Bronx.  The composting, the leaf collection, can you

         20  just highlight that again for me, where we are?

         21  Recently, somebody wrote a letter into a local

         22  newspaper where I am, saying that I am a lousy

         23  Councilman because we restored recycling, but we

         24  didn't restore composting and leaf collection and

         25  Christmas tree collection.  So, if you can just
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          2  specifically lay that out, so then I can use that --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- In my

          5  response letter.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  It has been

          7  laid out.  It's been in some of the newspapers

          8  already.  We have a mailer that has gone out

          9  already? Will go out shortly, indicating, I think

         10  you have a copy of it in that material I gave you,

         11  right, and that will indicate to the homeowner when

         12  we will be in their neighborhood.

         13                 There will be two days in November,

         14  for example on Staten Island, two weeks apart, where

         15  we will collect the leaves. We'll probably stop on

         16  Staten Island collecting the leaves around the 30th

         17  of October, that Monday, we won't collect leaves,

         18  and two weeks later, on a Sunday, we will pick- up

         19  the leaves and then two weeks after that we'll pick-

         20  up the leaves again.

         21                 So, people are going to have to store

         22  their leaves during that, basically, that four week

         23  period that we will be picking it up, and the dates

         24  differ a little bit in Brooklyn and Queens.  So, you

         25  have to look at the, the material that we're mailing
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          2  out to you now and we will be collecting, and we ask

          3  people to, you know, put their pumpkins in, you

          4  know, after Halloween, they're probably be starting

          5  to decay, so they can add that to the leaf bag and

          6  put it out.

          7                 I think one of the things we have to,

          8  you know, talk about and think about as we move

          9  forward is, you know, the use of paper bags.

         10  Plastic bags are very convenient, there's no

         11  question about it, but when you look at composting

         12  and, you know, one has to think a little bit about

         13  paper bags.  So, if people, you know, can go out and

         14  I know some of the larger stores, such as Home

         15  Depot, and I think Lowe's, may have the plastic,

         16  paper bags available this Fall.  I don't know if

         17  they'll be ready this Fall or not for sure, though.

         18  But, I think that's another think that can be

         19  helpful when we talk about composting and making it

         20  a more efficient and effective program.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Because those

         22  plastic bags can really stymie the work, so to

         23  speak.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, yea,

         25  you've got to shred them, you've got to open them,
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          2  you've got the bags blowing all over.  I mean, maybe

          3  we should get like Ireland, I think, and has a 15

          4  cent deposit on plastic bags.  But, I'm sure I'll

          5  get run out of town on a rail.  But, you know, the

          6  bags do blow all over the place and create a

          7  problem.  When we run these facilities, our

          8  contractors, we want to make sure we have a well run

          9  clean looking facility.  We don't need these bags

         10  blowing around.  But, that's something that has to

         11  be looked at over time.  It's not something you can

         12  jump at overnight.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Be careful,

         14  because I think Council Member Koppell's got that

         15  bill with the deposit on the bags.  So, we'll be

         16  back on that one.  The mandate for plastic bags on

         17  the leaves, paper bags on the leaves, can you do

         18  that administratively or do you think we need

         19  legislation?

         20                 COMMISSION DOHERTY:  I think we have

         21  to look at that.  I think there's more discussions

         22  needed on that.  I mean, one, we've got to make sure

         23  if we go, if one was to go in that direction, that

         24  we have a supply ready for the public.  But, you

         25  know, there's a lot more to be talked about.  I'm
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          2  just kind of throwing it out now that if people,

          3  voluntarily, want to do it, it's probably helpful

          4  for recycling, but we're not mandating it, we're not

          5  going that route yet.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  There also has

          7  been a program in the past where the Department will

          8  come either with electric broom, with the large

          9  brooms and kind of clean the leaves themselves out

         10  of neighborhoods that have heavy tree population.

         11  Will that be up and running again?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yeah, that'll

         13  continue. What we do with them, we usually put a

         14  container somewhere in that neighborhood, and when

         15  the brooms are loaded, because it basically contains

         16  all leaves, we dump them into that container and

         17  that container is dropped off at the recycling site,

         18  the composting facility.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  So, that

         20  program is back in, that's in effect this year --

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  That will

         22  continue --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- As well.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Absolutely,

         25  absolutely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  And Christmas

          3  tree pick- ups, of course, will be --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  That'll start

          5  in, yea, right after January 1st, right after the

          6  first of the year, we'll start picking up the

          7  Christmas trees and chipping them.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  The two time a

          9  week, I mean, the two time pick- up for the leaves,

         10  is that enough, you think?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Frequent

         13  enough?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- So, you

         15  know, you've always got to figure when the leaves

         16  are going to fall.  It's not a, you know, a science,

         17  we can't really predict it that close. But,

         18  generally speaking, that period is about the time,

         19  they may fall a little earlier, little later.  But,

         20  it's basically one month.  We're looking at a one

         21  month period almost from when we say we're not going

         22  to pick- up the leaves.  In the case of Staten

         23  Island, we won't pick them up on October 30th, but

         24  we'll pick them up two weeks later and two weeks

         25  after that, and near the end of October we'll pick
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          2  them up again.  So, I think we have it pretty well

          3  covered.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay, that's

          5  just one area I would urge you to look at to

          6  increase to frequency.  But, I understand that

          7  causes a budgetary issue as well.  With the

          8  composting yard waste collection, have we ever

          9  looked at doing that in the Spring as well, to

         10  capture the materials from Spring clean- ups and

         11  from --

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yea, I mean,

         13  when you're talk recycling, there's no question

         14  about it, that comes up. But, there are a number of

         15  difficulties, particularly, right now, with the

         16  Asian Beetle.  Any piece of wood from a tree over a

         17  half inch really needs to be chipped.

         18                 I know the Parks Department has been

         19  working on a program to address the Asian Beetle.

         20  The problems is in Queens and Brooklyn right now,

         21  and its spread around, in Manhattan, of course.

         22  Manhattan doesn't have the leaf and the yard waste

         23  that we experience in the Outer Boroughs.  So,

         24  that's one of the problems we have to think about,

         25  and if one was to try and push it for next year, one
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          2  of the particular problems we're having is that we

          3  planned on three composting facilities throughout

          4  the City.  One in the Bronx, one out in the Queens

          5  Brooklyn borderline, known as Spring Creek, and the

          6  one on Staten Island, Fresh Kills.

          7                 We've been taken to court, not really

          8  to court, but to, before DEC adjudicating law judge

          9  on the facility out at Spring Creek, and we cannot

         10  open that facility until that is finally addressed.

         11  I think we're going to win overall, but right now,

         12  we do have a capacity constraint.  We will be able

         13  to handle the leaves this year at the Sound View

         14  (phonetic) in the Bronx and Fresh Kills on Staten

         15  Island.  We're able to handle the Christmas trees

         16  working with the Park Department also on the

         17  Christmas trees this season.

         18                 But, as we look forward, there's a

         19  number of obstacles that we have to look at closely

         20  and, you know, one has to look at the dollars too.

         21  There's no question about it.  It's not cheap and we

         22  want to have an economically viable program, and we

         23  don't want the cost of recycling going through the

         24  roof.  We have to continue to look at this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  One of the
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          2  areas you mentioned, I think is a growing, growing

          3  concern for us, is the volume of electronic

          4  equipment, computers and the like, and you touched

          5  on it, and you did mention the flyer that came out,

          6  a very voluntary program, I think, and of course

          7  it's a good way to start.  It says that if you want

          8  to drop- off to call 3- 1- 1. Have, and I guess what

          9  people would then be told where Dell and Lexmark had

         10  a location set up?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes, they can

         12  also get on the Department's website and they can

         13  click on there and it will tell them when the dates

         14  are for that electronic recycling program.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Have you

         16  considered using the self- help centers that,

         17  unfortunately, were closed in the last budget cuts,

         18  and I think, haven't been re- opened yet, as a drop-

         19  off for these types of materials? Because,

         20  certainly, this is a program that is fleeting, at

         21  best, as long as the grant is there it's in

         22  operation.  But, I think the City, certainly, has to

         23  be very proactive in addressing the recycling of

         24  these materials.  Would the self- help centers be a

         25  way to do that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I think

          3  what we, we really want to think this out.  Right

          4  now, from what we found out in a preliminary waste

          5  characterization study, only about one percent, and

          6  I know one percent, you know, can be a lot to some

          7  people, but it's only about one percent of the waste

          8  stream, which indicates there's not an awful lot of

          9  electronics material being put out in the waste

         10  stream.

         11                 One can think about self- help, but I

         12  mean is that the best way to go?  Should there be

         13  responsibilities by manufacturers to look into that?

         14    So, I think this is going to take a lot more

         15  thought before we, as a City, jump into a program

         16  that we ultimately end up being responsible for and

         17  actually costing the City a lot of money.  So, I

         18  think we have to do a lot of thinking and

         19  discussions on this before we finally settle on an

         20  approach, and I think we have time based on what

         21  we're seeing in the waste stream right now.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Because

         23  certainly manufacturer responsibility is something

         24  that we're looking at and researching as well on our

         25  side.  Do you see that, and certainly you're
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          2  familiar that there are other countries in the

          3  world, if not municipalities, that mandate that.  Do

          4  you see that as a viable option --

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think it's

          6  something --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- For the

          8  City?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- I think

         10  it's something that has to be handled on the Federal

         11  level.  I think it's a nationwide issue to be

         12  addressed.  I know there have been some bills put

         13  forward in Washington on that.  Some of them have

         14  moved a little bit, others haven't moved too far.

         15  But, I think it's more a nationwide requirement that

         16  we go down that road, we have to look at it.  I

         17  think the Federal Government will have to address

         18  it.  That's probably the best arena to address it

         19  for this country.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  And in terms of

         21  the Bottle Bill and expansion of the Bottle Bill,

         22  which is sort of an extreme, not extreme, but

         23  perhaps the purest sense of recycling. Do you see

         24  that as a way of reducing the trash that we collect?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, you
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          2  know, I mean, people talk about that, but what you

          3  really see, I mean, you add a deposit to another

          4  container that doesn't have, you know, the five cent

          5  deposit on it right now.  Is that going mean that

          6  it's going to go back to the store that it was

          7  purchased in?  Or, does that mean it's actually

          8  going to go into the blue recycling container or

          9  clear recycling bag for metal, glass and plastic?

         10                 And, what you see, basically, is a

         11  lot of the deposit containers do end up in the

         12  recycling bins.  A number, a good percent of them,

         13  actually, are, are probably siphoned off through,

         14  you know, street people, recycling, through your

         15  recycling can.  Here, again, it takes a lot of

         16  thought.

         17                 I mean, you do it, and you know, what

         18  kind of a problem do you create and do you really

         19  solve the issue?  Because you may be actually

         20  getting that container right now, and it's not going

         21  to go back, even if you so, oh, we put a nickel on

         22  it or a dime on it.  If it doesn't go back, it ends

         23  up in the waste stream and then the consumers paying

         24  for something that, you know, maybe they don't need

         25  to pay for.  So, we need to really think a lot of
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          2  these things out before we jump in and see what we

          3  want to do.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Do you think

          5  that the new facilities, certainly in Brooklyn, the

          6  South Brooklyn Marine Transfer Station, and the

          7  Gansevoort, if we get to that, will having those

          8  facilities on line allow us to expand the universe

          9  of recyclables?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Are you

         11  talking about the export points for the solid waste?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Well, the Hugo

         13  Neu point and there's also talk --

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, Hugo

         15  Neu, Hugo Neu, yes, I think Hugo Neu.  I mean,

         16  that's the big thing, the big advantage of entering

         17  into a 20- year contract with them.  It'll give them

         18  an opportunity to look at the waste stream they get

         19  and design a facility that maybe we can recycle more

         20  commodities.

         21                 I mean, there's often talk about

         22  textiles and I think you mentioned it before, and

         23  one of the problems that we learned, because we did

         24  go through a program in Brooklyn, trying to collect

         25  textiles, and it was a failure, basically, because
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          2  once they get wet, they're of no value, nobody wants

          3  them.

          4                 So, one thought is, and here, again,

          5  we don't know if this works, but we have to look at

          6  it.  Hugo, working with Hugo Neu and experimenting,

          7  we have to see whether putting maybe textiles in

          8  with the paper, if it stays dry, if it's properly

          9  packaged, and maybe, you know, maybe we can approach

         10  it that way.

         11                 But, I think it's going to be a great

         12  opportunity to look at new commodities.  I mean, we

         13  often talk about the plastics one through, three

         14  through seven, that really don't have a market.  So,

         15  Hugo Neu is they, after they build their plant and

         16  they get it running, you know, they'll have the

         17  opportunity to see what can be marketed, and I'm

         18  sure they're looking at things right now.

         19                 I know they're working very hard

         20  looking at the marketing of glass, which has always

         21  been a problem.  And, they think they've got a good

         22  handle on it, and I think they do too. So, we're

         23  going to continue to look at these things, and

         24  that's, that's the beauty of the 20-year contract,

         25  we have them to, to look at new items and, these
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          2  people are good marketing people.  I mean, they made

          3  their money in metal and they know how to market and

          4  they know how to transport it.  I think it's going

          5  to carry over to the plastic and other materials.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Just a few more

          7  and then I'll turn it over to my colleagues.  But,

          8  how are we doing now with metal, glass, plastic and

          9  paper after full reinstatement, and the numbers I've

         10  seen look like the diversion rates and capture rates

         11  are up pretty, well, they're, let's say the

         12  tonnages, at least, are up pretty high.  How do you

         13  see it?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  The, couple of

         15  things to that, the diversion rate is up.  In

         16  September, we were 18 percent, so that came up.  The

         17  capture rate is something, I think, we're going to

         18  have to look at.  Our preliminary waste

         19  characterization study is indicating it's not quite

         20  the same amount of commodities for recycling that

         21  was in the previous waste study done back, I think,

         22   '89,  '90,  '89.  So, that may change a little bit

         23  and we'll see what that means.  I think that goes a

         24  lot to determining, you know, how much can we

         25  recycle out of the waste stream.  So, that will take
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          2  a little bit more time to determine that.

          3                 But, when you look at the whole

          4  numbers on tonnages for September, the paper was

          5  about 1,400 tons a day. Two years ago in two

          6  thousand and -- 1,400, did I say 1,400 tons a day,

          7  in 2002, when paper was in the program, we were

          8  doing about 1,380.  So, we're a little bit above.

          9  So, the paper's coming back to where it was, and I

         10  think that was more about how much paper was in the

         11  waste stream rather than people weren't recycling

         12  it.

         13                 On the metal, glass and plastic, that

         14  hasn't jumped up as much.  We're doing about 850

         15  tons a day on that now, and at its best, it was

         16  about 1,030, and it looks like, preliminary here,

         17  and I don't want jump and, you know, find out later

         18  that we're not quite correct, but at preliminary,

         19  looks like there might be less glass in the waste

         20  stream, which kind of makes sense.  There may be a

         21  little bit more plastic.

         22                 But, when you look at it from a

         23  weight, if you go from glass to plastic, on a

         24  tonnage basis, you're not going to see as much.

         25  That would make sense because more and more
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          2  companies are looking to use lighter receptacles to

          3  hold their material and it cut down on

          4  transportation and fuel costs and stuff like that.

          5  So, we'll have to go a little longer on that see

          6  what happens.  But, it's very encouraging.  I'm

          7  encouraged about it and we have to see how we do.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  So, we're very

          9  encouraged about recycling and we're bullish on

         10  recycling.  What is our goal in terms of those

         11  rates?  What is that, in the 20- year plan, what is

         12  it we're going to be looking to do in the City?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Bob is, just

         14  before I get to that, Bob is pointing out to me, and

         15  that's why I have him here, that one of the things

         16  we're noticing in the metal, glass and plastic and

         17  is we're not having as much contaminants as we had

         18  before.

         19                 We got a lot stricter and did a lot

         20  more training with our sanitation workers and with

         21  the public in general, saying, hey look, if it's not

         22  recyclable, we're not going to pick it up.  We're

         23  not going to pick- up that bowling ball and we're

         24  not going to pick up that pool liner, the baby pool

         25  liner.  That has to go in the trash.  So, that can
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          2  be affecting the metal and glass a little bit too.

          3  But, now I forgot your question, what was it again?

          4  I'm sorry, say it again.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Our targets --

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Our targets,

          7  right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- In other

          9  words, where, we're in the high teens, I think that

         10  we've always talked about we were at a 20 percent,

         11  that we were recycling about 20 percent before my

         12  nightmare began, and that the kind of break point

         13  where we think it, that economically it really makes

         14  sense is around 25 percent.  But, I think we're

         15  setting targets much higher, aren't we?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, in a

         17  solid waste management plan, we are looking at

         18  higher targets.  I mean, I still believe, and I've

         19  always said it, that 25 percent diversion rate for

         20  curbside collection is a goal we have to work for.

         21  I think, in time, we're shooting for probably 2007

         22  to get to that 25 percent on the curbside.

         23                 We want to, we really, as we get into

         24  the Local Law 19, and look at it, I think it

         25  benefits everyone and the City, as a whole, to use
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          2  numbers and recycling figures and tonnages that are

          3  used the same way in every other city and state

          4  around the country.  We get a bad name because we're

          5  so restrictive on what we show as being recyclable.

          6  It's only the curbside program.  But, when you go to

          7  these other states and cities, they look at the

          8  whole city.  I think we what to do that.

          9                 I mean, we would like to see, and

         10  we're shooting for, you know, and it's a number of

         11  years out, a 70 percent goal in the City.  But, you

         12  have to include things that are not being included

         13  now, and you have to include all the commercial

         14  material that's being recycled.  When you put all

         15  those numbers together, now, when you talk about

         16  California or Oregon, you start to be on a level

         17  playing field with them, and it looks, it shows that

         18  New York City really is recycling.  I think we have

         19  to look at that as we move forward.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  In terms of

         21  expanding into the commercial areas, and you talked

         22  about the pilots at Hunts Point.  I think, you know,

         23  sort of from commercial trash aside from

         24  construction debris and soil, sort of the things

         25  that comes from stores is a lot of food waste.  What
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          2  can we do in terms of expanding composting there?

          3  There's the proposals about the commercial food, the

          4  sink food grinders.  Do you have a position on that?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, no I

          6  don't have a position.  I mean, that's something

          7  that DEP has to address with the sewage treatment

          8  plant.  I understand there is a major problem with

          9  nitrogen that it creates and in the system, but

         10  that's not my area of expertise and I think that has

         11  to be addressed to them.

         12                 I think on the surface, it sounds

         13  like, why not, but I think once you get into the

         14  details, you say, hey wait a minute, you know, we've

         15  got a sewer system that we need in the City.  It

         16  works well.  Let's make sure it continues to work

         17  well. We don't want it backing up.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  And in terms of

         19  composting or capturing some of that commercial food

         20  waste?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, you

         22  know, we have to look at that.  It's such a problem

         23  trying to, trying to store it for any amount of

         24  time.  You know, when people talk about rodents in

         25  the City and control, it's so densely populated in

                                                            36

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2  some areas, that you almost have to do it daily when

          3  you have, you know, pure food waste there.  It

          4  becomes very, very expensive, both for the City on

          5  the residential side and for the commercial sector

          6  to pay for it.

          7                 I don't think we're going to rule

          8  out, you know, how we can do more composting.  I

          9  mean, there are systems, and you can look at the

         10  solid waste management plans that talk about

         11  anaerobic and aerobic decomposition for, you know,

         12  the raw garbage and everything, and then breaking it

         13  out and taking the recyclables that are in there

         14  out.  There's some technologies there.

         15                 How well they work?  Can they handle

         16  the volume in New York City?  What is the cost of

         17  doing it versus what, you know, what it costs us

         18  now?  That all has to be thought out. But, it's not

         19  off the table.  It's there to be thought about and

         20  looked at it, because we're looking out, at least

         21  now for 20 years, but we want to continue to look

         22  beyond that.  I mean, we have people in the

         23  Department now that are thinking, okay, what's going

         24  to happen after 20 years.  And, some of these things

         25  that we kind of think about a little crazy right now
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          2  are very, very expensive, I don't know, we don't

          3  know what it's going to look like in 20 years, and

          4  how much the technology will develop to make it a

          5  better system.  So, we're going to continue to look

          6  at that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Prior to the

          8  suspension, we had recycling coordinators working

          9  with the schools, because I, I believe, and I know

         10  you believe, that teaching the children to recycle

         11  and, clearly, those efforts are paying off, because

         12  the public is getting better at recycling.  Those

         13  positions were eliminated, I think, have they, are

         14  they being reinstated? And what programs do we have

         15  in the schools?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, we have

         17  the teachers resource kit that's available to the

         18  teachers.  It's on our website.  We make it

         19  available to them.  We also have, in Bob's staff,

         20  and he's just pointing out to me, he has staff that

         21  does and will go out on outreach programs to the

         22  schools.  On a day to- day level, basically, out on

         23  the street level, our supervisors also look at

         24  what's being put out in the waste and what's being

         25  put out on the recycling side at school stops, and
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          2  they will stop in and talk to them too, when they

          3  see, hey, wait a minute, you've got a load of paper,

          4  or you've got a load of cans from the kitchen out

          5  with your garbage.

          6                 But, Bob works with his people on

          7  outreaching to not only the schools, but groups.  I

          8  just went around to the City- wide budget, community

          9  board budget consultations.  We meet every year.

         10  And, I pointed out to them, if they have a need for

         11  somebody to come in and talk to a group about

         12  recycling and how they can improve recycling,

         13  because I point out to many of these communities,

         14  what their diversion rate is, and when they're not

         15  doing so good, I point out we have to do better.

         16  When they're doing well, I say, you're doing good,

         17  but maybe we could do a little better, and we make

         18  Bob's people available, his staff, available to talk

         19  to them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay.  My

         21  colleagues have questions.  Council Member Gennaro.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Thank you

         23  Mr. Chairman. John, it's nice to see you.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Nice to see

         25  you Councilman.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  I just want

          3  to return briefly to the subject that the Chairman

          4  brought up with regard to the management of food

          5  waste, and I guess, you know, here I go again.  Now,

          6  your Long Term Solid Waste Management plan was

          7  criticized the other day in The Daily News in an op-

          8  ed because it did not provide for, or did not, you

          9  know, encourage the use of, you know, commercial

         10  food waste disposers, which is a proposal which is

         11  now in the Council, which I oppose.

         12                 I think it was just yesterday in

         13  Newsday, and lobbyists for the restaurant, I guess,

         14  food waste generators, in general, was lobbying,

         15  once again, that this should be one of the

         16  cornerstones of how we manage food waste.  Now, you

         17  said that you personally didn't have a position on

         18  it, but isn't it the case that it's the Bloomberg

         19  Administration's official position that this is not

         20  a good idea?  Would that be fair to say?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I have not

         22  talked with the Mayor on it.  I don't know what his

         23  position is.  I know that DEP's position is that

         24  they can't handle it, and to me, they're the experts

         25  on it --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Yes.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- And I think

          4  we have to rely on them, and there's a lot of

          5  technical people over there --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Right.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- To discuss

          8  it.  I think that, you know, if there's people

          9  interested, why they feel it doesn't work, you have

         10  to sit and talk with them.  You know, it's not up to

         11  me.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Right, and

         13  as Chairman of the Committee on, of that Committee,

         14  the Committee that deals with DEP, I, you know,

         15  agree with Commissioner Ward and I agree with the

         16  position that the Bloomberg Administration has put

         17  out, in that I believe that they believe that our,

         18  you know, public waste water infrastructure and our

         19  coastal waters shouldn't be used as a, as a dump for

         20  food waste, in particularly, when we're, as you

         21  pointed out you know, dealing with this nitrogen

         22  issue, and being under the gun from the Feds to

         23  reduce nitrogen output at our sewage treatment

         24  plants.

         25                 The billions we've spent over recent
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          2  years to upgrade our sewage treatment

          3  infrastructure, which would, you know, incrementally

          4  raise the amount of dissolved oxygen in our coastal

          5  waters, you know, that would be, those billions of

          6  dollars of investment would be at risk should this

          7  proposal be advanced and the amount of dissolved

          8  oxygen in our local waters is a precious commodity

          9  worth, as I said, billions of public investment

         10  that, you know, could be turned around by what would

         11  amount to a subsidy of the people who generate food

         12  waste.

         13                 But, just as someone who knows, you

         14  know, a lot about waste issues, if you were a

         15  generator of some other type of commercial waste,

         16  that was not food waste, and, what would you think

         17  if you saw a, one of the City's commercial sectors,

         18  that which generates food waste, getting essentially

         19  a subsidy in the form of, you know, free waste

         20  disposal?  I think this is, you know, contrary to

         21  the free market business principles, and how would

         22  you feel as someone who generated some other kind of

         23  waste, who didn't get a subsidy?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I mean,

         25  you have to look at that.  You have to be fair to
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          2  all businesses.  If there's a way of recycling, I

          3  think we all want to see the commercial sector

          4  recycle as much as possible.  How they do it and we

          5  do know now that if you have a lot of paper as a

          6  commercial company, you're going to get a cheaper

          7  rate to dispose of it that way, than somebody that

          8  has the more heavy, wet weight.

          9                 What I'd also like to mention about

         10  the sink grinders, the kitchen grinders, when you

         11  think about that, I mean, the law in New York City

         12  does allow for, for homeowners, for the residential

         13  population to have the kitchen grinders in there.

         14  We have to think about, and they will probably come

         15  on the line a little at a time.  So, DEP and the

         16  sewage treatment system has to be able to gear up

         17  for that.

         18                 Now, if you bring a lot of the

         19  commercial restaurant waste into it, now you're

         20  really kind of knocking heads trying to straighten

         21  it out --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Absolutely.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- I think

         24  bringing things on slowly, we do know that in one of

         25  the New York City, Department of Housing, they
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          2  changed, they put in I think about 1,400 kitchen

          3  grinders in there to address the food waste, and

          4  they were doing that because they felt it was a

          5  better way of addressing some of the rats --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Sure.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- That they

          8  thought was a problem.  So, you've got to think

          9  about it.  How are we bringing these things on?

         10  What's going to happen, I think as new people, as

         11  people renovate their apartments, they start to

         12  think, or their houses, they think about that, new

         13  construction is going to think about it some more,

         14  you know.  But, you've got to bring it on a little

         15  at a time.  So, when I say we, we've got to really

         16  think these things out clearly, and not jump and

         17  say, yea, that's a great idea, because on the

         18  surface, it sounds great, right?  I don't know

         19  nothing, it sounds great.  But, there's a lot more

         20  to it than that and you have to think them out,

         21  because, like I said, we've got a sewer system here

         22  and none of us want it to back up.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Let me just

         24  also state for the record that the 1997 study that

         25  was done by the DEP indicated that allowing the
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          2  residential food waste disposers in areas served by,

          3  you know, combined sewers, was, they thought it

          4  would be an okay policy, as long as there was not

          5  significant penetration of food waste disposers in

          6  these areas.  Having them in the residential sector

          7  is much, much different than having them in the

          8  commercial sector --

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  -- And to

         11  the extent that someone makes a case that in, you

         12  know, high density, you know, public housing, in

         13  order to minimize the rodent problem and rat

         14  problem, you know, I think I'm willing to take a

         15  little bit of a hit on our sewer system for the

         16  purposes of keeping rats and roaches away from kids.

         17                 I'm not willing to do it in order to,

         18  you know, subsidize a business and pay for some of

         19  the costs of bringing their products to the

         20  marketplace.  So, I think we generally agree and I

         21  appreciate your concurrence on this issue.  With

         22  respect to Members of this Committee and the members

         23  of the audience that I know are in strong support of

         24  this proposal, which I am not, and I --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Could I just,
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          2  could I --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Sure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- I don't mean

          5  to interrupt Council Member Gennaro, but I don't

          6  want to turn this into a hearing on --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Sure, okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- On that

          9  proposal.  I just kind of threw that out there, what

         10   --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Absolutely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: -- And just --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- Maybe I

         15  didn't make it clear, what we're trying to do at

         16  this Hearing is to really hear about new ideas and

         17  attitudes on how to reduce the City's trash and look

         18  at recycling.  So, I kind of threw it out to the

         19  Commissioner just as a list of litany of ideas, but

         20  we'll do more hearings on that.  I --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  Absolutely,

         22  and I --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- Understand

         24  your passion on that issue, but --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENNARO:  -- I just
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          2  want to state that I thank you for the latitude that

          3  you've given me on this. It's just that this had

          4  been in the papers over the last couple of days, and

          5  then you had brought it up, so you've given me a

          6  little latitude here and I deeply appreciate it Mr.

          7  Chairman, thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Council Member

          9  Yassky.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you

         11  Chair McMahon. I would not want to let a Hearing on

         12  recycling go by without giving you the well deserved

         13  credit for, along with, of course, the Commissioner,

         14  the resumption of recycling, the residential

         15  recycling program as successfully as it's going, and

         16  with even more successfully in the future, is a very

         17  significant achievement.  So, thank you, Mr. Chair

         18  and Commissioner.  Just a couple of questions --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Wait, are you

         20  saying that wasn't a dream?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Sounded like

         22  it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  On the,

         24  following- up on what you were just talking about

         25  with Council Member Gennaro is, on commercial side.
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          2  What is the, if I understand, correct me if I'm

          3  wrong, like the commercial enterprises, as of today,

          4  are required to separate out paper and metal, is

          5  that right?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  What's the

          8  current estimate of, you know, compliance rates?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, you can

         10  look at it in two areas.  In the commercial waste

         11  study, we looked at the commercial waste, basically,

         12  which is a little under 10,000 tons a day, about

         13  9,600, 9,800 tons a day.  In that waste stream,

         14  there was about 2,600 tons a day that was being

         15  recycled, but when you look at the commercial side,

         16  the big numbers, especially for metal, comes in the

         17  C&D material and C&D material is about, it's under

         18  9,000, probably 8,600 tons a day, and they recycle

         19  about 50 percent of that.

         20                 I think, as they go forward, this is

         21  an area that has to be worked on a little bit more.

         22  It think we should expect that that industry does a

         23  little bit higher percentage on recycle, and that's

         24  something we're going to have to continue to look

         25  at.  The other big number, of course, is the fill
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          2  material. You've got about 19,000 tons a day of fill

          3  material, and that's basically the dirt.  It comes

          4  out of one hole and it goes into another hole.  But,

          5  you know, one can kind of, well, that's not really

          6  recycling, but you know, if you didn't have another

          7  hole to put it in, it's a lot of material that you

          8  have to get rid some place.  So, it is recycling and

          9  it does address the economic development of this

         10  City, you know, to move that material around, have a

         11  place for it to go when you dig it up and put a new

         12  building in, or when you take down an old building

         13  and you want to, you know, fill up a hole that's in

         14  the ground.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And on the

         16  paper side? So, so --

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  The paper

         18  side, yea --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  -- On the

         20  metal side, actually, the metal side, you're saying

         21  you think compliance is right around 50 percent in

         22  the, in terms of C&D --

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yea, that's

         24  what they recycle --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: -- And it's
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          2  not, it's probably a pretty small, of other

          3  commercial wastes, I'm guessing, I don't know, that

          4  this metal, metal is a pretty small percentage.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yea, they

          6  don't, they don't get too much out of that.  I mean,

          7  the paper, for the most part, that's recycled by the

          8  commercial sector, is basically coming from

          9  buildings that bale their paper, or even the small

         10  stores, you'll see bales of corrugated outside, and

         11  they get a much cheaper rate for that, because they

         12  don't have to tip it and they have a, you know,

         13  place to dispose of it at a better tipping fee.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  So, does that

         15  mean we expect, we think compliance is pretty high

         16  there?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think it's

         18  pretty good. I think it's a, I think they need to be

         19  pushed a little bit more, to be honest with you.  I

         20  think there some more room there.  I'm just not sure

         21  how much it is yet.  But, all in all, the commercial

         22  sector, I think, is -- and like all of us, you know,

         23  Department included, could we do a little bit

         24  better?  Can we push ourselves and try and do a

         25  little bit better?  Yea, I think we have to do that,
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          2  we have to look at it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I mean, is

          4  there, you know, and I really don't know, because I

          5  don't hear about it from my constituents, the way I

          6  do on the residential side, is there any enforcement

          7  program there in terms of tickets and --

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yes, the --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  -- Citations?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  --  The

         11  Sanitation Police has a unit that does go around in

         12  the evening hours, on a four to 12 for the most

         13  part, and inspect material that's being put out by

         14  the private companies and summonses are written for

         15  failure to recycle.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, and,

         17  just the one last question is, on the residential

         18  recycling, as we begin this, you know, long- term

         19  relationship and have now renewed the program, the

         20  one issue that I know is going to be raised later, I

         21  don't, I think that Local Law Six revision is

         22  probably before Council Member Gennaro's Committee,

         23  not this one, but in terms using clean burning

         24  vehicles to pick- up the recycling, what progress

         25  are we making there?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, you

          3  know, we're looking at a couple of things.  I mean,

          4  there is still a very strong feeling and love for

          5  the diesel engine in the automotive, in the, you

          6  know, the trucking industry, not only in Sanitation.

          7  One, because it's a good workhorse, it's a good

          8  engine and a couple of new things have come along.

          9  There is the clean diesel technology, computer

         10  controlled engines, where you don't see the black

         11  soot coming out, and to address the particulate

         12  matter, which is something that we're all concerned

         13  about.  You know, we're looking at new diesel

         14  particulate traps and we're playing with about, I

         15  think, 50 of them right now, from different

         16  manufacturers and we're monitoring them, and they

         17  seem to work well.

         18                 So, there's that, you know, strong

         19  feeling we're not ready to give up the diesel, let's

         20  make it better.  But, we're also looking at the C&G,

         21  we have a number of C&G vehicles. We're looking at

         22  that.  There is an additional cost for them. There's

         23  a whole supply network that has to be built for the

         24  City if one was to go that route.  But, there are

         25  some drawbacks to that when it comes to pollutants
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          2  also.

          3                 And, we're also, we have the ethanol

          4  system, E85, which is 85 percent gas, 15 percent

          5  ethanol.  We have a number of vehicles running on

          6  that.  We have a number of cars, the hybrid, and we

          7  have a number of light duty C&G vehicles.  So, we're

          8  going to continue to look at that, and I know there

          9  are people over in motor equipment that are still

         10  looking at, you know, hydrogen and fuel cells, and

         11  we're going to continue to look at that.

         12                 How adaptable and how long will it

         13  take the industry to adapt them to the heavy duty

         14  workhorse of this country is another question.  But,

         15  I they're starting off and we see it in the smaller

         16  vehicles today and, hopefully, it will continue.

         17  When you're going to get a breakthrough? We're not

         18  sure.  I mean, we talk about hydrogen and fuel

         19  cells, when a breakthrough's going to come --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yea.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- We're not

         22  sure.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  In terms of

         24  the main, you know, the collection trucks for

         25  recyclables, probably the same as for non-
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          2  recyclables, but are you, are you using now the

          3  ultra low sulfur diesel --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Yea, City-

          5  wide.  We started in June.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And, okay, I

          7  just want, what I heard you say, I think, was you're

          8  looking at, not that you have 50 vehicles with

          9  traps, but you have, in terms of the traps, you

         10  don't have any on vehicles, you're looking at

         11  different traps to see which --

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, no, we

         13  have, I think it's about 50 vehicles with different

         14  types of diesel particulate traps that we're testing

         15  right now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I see.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY: We're trying to

         18  determine --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- Which one

         21  works the best and once we know, we've got a good

         22  handle on it, then we're going to look to put them

         23  on all our trucks, include them in our specs for the

         24  future too.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Great.
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          2  That's, you know, I will, you know, follow- up with

          3  you as, in the future, to see, see what you're

          4  learning there.  Thank you Commissioner.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you

          6  Council Member Yassky.  We've also been joined by

          7  Council Member David Weprin, Chairman of the Finance

          8  Committee from Queens, who's running back and forth

          9  between here and a Hearing on Housing that's hearing

         10  one of his bills.

         11                 Commissioner, sometimes when you tell

         12  us stuff, then it has to sink in and then we, then

         13  it hits me.  You mentioned that the Brooklyn

         14  composting facility is now closed because of legal

         15  action, or administrative action pending before DEC.

         16    Will that closure impede your ability to complete

         17  the leaf collections and all the composting programs

         18  for this year?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No.  No, we

         20  will get through it this year.  It's going to be a

         21  little tight, but we worked it out and we will split

         22  the material that was going to go to that facility,

         23  in a, in Spring Creek, we'll split it between Staten

         24  Island and the Bronx.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  So, what will
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          2  be the capacity at those two facilities, Staten

          3  Island and the Bronx facility?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Bob probably

          5  knows.

          6                 MR. LANGE:  I don't know that off the

          7  top of my head, but it's within their permitted

          8  amount.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Will it be,

         10  have any onerous effects for Staten Island or the

         11  Bronx to handle that extra capacity?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, with the

         13  permit, Bob Orlin's telling me, it's about 13,000

         14  tons between the two locations.  No, we don't expect

         15  it to be a problem.  We've been composting there in

         16  the past.  It's going on.  It hasn't been a

         17  nuisance.  I don't think by adding additional

         18  materials it's going to be a nuisance.  It's just

         19  another wind row, basically, you know, you just need

         20  more space to set up your wind rows for composting.

         21  That's really the only issue.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  And if DEC

         23  decides it cannot use the Brooklyn site, what, will

         24  you have an alternate site in mind?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, we're
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          2  pretty confident that we'll end up being able to get

          3  that site.  But, you know, that's the reality of, of

          4  the waste industry.  Whether it's a composting

          5  facility or a garage, or a waste disposal facility,

          6  there always going to be some objections in some

          7  parts of the City when you do it.

          8                 As much as people like recycling, we

          9  found that there, apparently, was some people in an

         10  area that wasn't crazy about having a compost

         11  facility there.  So, there are things we're always

         12  going to face it this City was we move ahead on

         13  different things that, solid waste and recycling.

         14  I'm pretty confident we're going to get that and

         15  we're going to be able to move forward.  It's just a

         16  little bit of a, you know, a delay. We would have

         17  wished it went better for us.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  So, at this

         19  point, you don't have any alternate site.  If they

         20  tell you no, will you find an alternate site, or

         21  just rely on the two facilities?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I

         23  understand you bought a new house in Staten Island,

         24  does it have a big backyard? It is difficult, you

         25  know, we need a big piece of property.  We need a
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          2  large piece of property because, you know, for the

          3  wind rows and the composting, it takes time.  It

          4  doesn't happen overnight.  So, you need the space,

          5  and you do become somewhat limited in trying to find

          6  locations around the City for that. But, we're

          7  pretty confident I mean, we worked hard to find what

          8  we have now.  Can we find another one, if we have

          9  to?  I imagine we will.  It won't be easy, but we'll

         10  work at it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  I'm afraid that

         12  Counsel's going to say to me that you should

         13  consider an expansion at 91st Street, that that

         14  might be sort of inside baseball bad joke --

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I'm not going

         16  there.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Yea.  Okay.

         18  Council Member Serrano.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  Thank you

         20  Mr. Chairman. Commissioner, I'm the author of the

         21  Zero Waste Resolution here in the City Council, and

         22  with recycling probably being the most important

         23  pillar of it, and it encourages the City of New York

         24  to find ways to avoid waste before it winds up in

         25  the waste stream.
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          2                 Forgive me for missing when you read

          3  your testimony, but I was looking over it and I saw

          4  that you were discussing expanding waste prevention

          5  initiatives such as New York City Stuff Exchange.

          6  Can you expand a little bit on what these additional

          7  programs will be?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I'm going to

          9  let Bob Lange, who lives this, day in and day out,

         10  talk about this program, so Bob.

         11                 MR. LANGE:  I would just say that

         12  waste prevention is a part of our overall mission.

         13  We perceive waste prevention to be much more of a

         14  public education tool than it is a solid waste

         15  management tool.  While you will have testimony

         16  later, probably by some of the advocates for waste

         17  prevention, you, as a resident of New York, know

         18  that one of the biggest expanding businesses in New

         19  York City is the storage of materials that people

         20  can't even use within their apartments.  So, they're

         21  renting storage to store all of the extra stuff that

         22  they have, which shows you the kind of challenge of

         23  trying to reduce the waste stream.

         24                 I mean, we live in a consumer- based

         25  economy. We're not going to have a (sic) enormous
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          2  impact on the amount of waste produced through waste

          3  prevention.  Unless you're talking about programs

          4  which the Council has already come out against, like

          5  Pay As You Throw, that is a program that has the

          6  potential for direct changes to the waste stream.

          7  But, other than that, we perceive waste prevention

          8  to be primarily a public education tool.

          9                 Zero Waste, as a rhetorical tool, is

         10  a very powerful tool for, you know, attempting, it's

         11  like setting a, once you're over 50, setting a waste

         12  reduction target for yourself of losing 50 pounds.

         13  While it may be a great rhetorical tool for getting

         14  you to go to the gym and reduce the amount you eat

         15  at every meal, the likelihood of you achieving that

         16  goal is not going to be very positive.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  No, I

         18  understand that. That's the pragmatic belief of

         19  everyone.  But, we believe it's definitely the right

         20  direction that we should be going.  But, it does say

         21  that the Department is expanding, things like New

         22  York City Stuff Exchange and Wa$teMatch.  So, I just

         23  wanted to hear a little bit, you just mean increased

         24  funding for the program to make it more available?

         25  Or more widely used?
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          2                 MR. LANGE:  Not just increased

          3  funding, but increase the scope, like the Stuff

          4  Exchange is something that we set up when the

          5  Internet was really in its infancy.  Now, we're

          6  looking to set it up as an Internet- based service,

          7  because most people will have access that, you can

          8  make changes easier, maintaining the database will

          9  be easier to do, and we believe that there are all

         10  kinds of things that we can do if it's an Internet-

         11  based service that we can't do as a phone- based

         12  service.

         13                 Direct people, for example, if you

         14  have, if you want to have something during a certain

         15  period of the year, where you're directing people to

         16  that location, where they can donate their items,

         17  like we can work with the Salvation Army, and if

         18  they're going to do a collection in a particular

         19  area, you can have people who go on to the service

         20  be directed directly to that, which, if it's an

         21  Internet- based service, it's easier to do than if

         22  it's a phone- based service.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SERRANO:  Well, that's

         24  good.  Well, thank you Commissioner, I appreciate

         25  that.  Thank you.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Thank you sir.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you

          4  Mr. Chairman and thank you for your leave in having

          5  me participate.  I'm not regularly a Member of the

          6  Committee, although I am very interested in the

          7  work.  Before I get to the bill that is on the

          8  agenda today for discussion, Commissioner, I'm

          9  obviously very interested in the Bottle Bill or

         10  Returnable Container Bill, as having authored that

         11  25 years ago or so in Albany, and your answer with

         12  respect to expansion to new containers puzzled me a

         13  little, because we have experience with the current

         14  law in the City of soda and beer containers.  Is it

         15  your view that, and I, I think the estimates are, we

         16  don't have great return rates in the City, but

         17  they're probably hover between 50 and 60 percent.

         18  Is it your view that the current law that takes 50

         19  or 60 percent of the beer and soda containers out of

         20  the waste stream and has it come back to the

         21  retailers, is that a good thing that that volume of

         22  bottles and cans is taken out of the waste stream,

         23  or doesn't it matter?

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, when you

         25  can reduce the waste stream, there's no question
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          2  about it, that's good for it.  But, then you have to

          3  look at the, the down side of it, and what does that

          4  mean to the, to the purchaser, the people that are

          5  buying it, and if they're not recycling it and only

          6  putting the container out in with their recyclables,

          7  is it worth doing? And I question now, and I don't

          8  know if your percentage, I'll assume your

          9  percentages are correct, I'm not familiar with those

         10  numbers, but, you know, they add more containers to

         11  the Bottle Bill law, I don't know that it's really

         12  going to get us there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, from

         14  the point of view of this City, let's leave aside

         15  for a moment whether it's good for the consumer or

         16  not.  From the point of view of you, as the

         17  Sanitation Department of the City of New York, is it

         18  good or bad that we take more bottles and cans out

         19  of the waste stream?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think it's

         21  good to take any commodity out of the waste stream

         22  that we can.  Whether that commodity goes directly

         23  back to the, the manufacturer or whether it goes

         24  through a recycling program that we have in the

         25  City, one has to look at and make that
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          2  determination, that's --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But I'm

          4  asking --

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- That's what

          6  recycling is all about.  We're trying to get the

          7  people to recycle various commodities.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  What I'm

          9  asking you, Commissioner, I mean, you could say to

         10  me, we want those cans and bottles in the waste

         11  stream, we want them in the garbage.  Do you want

         12  them in the garbage or would you rather they bypass

         13  the garbage?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I would rather

         15  that they be recycled and not end up in the

         16  commodity of garbage that has to be exported out to

         17  a landfill.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But, if that

         19  is so, Commissioner, I would suggest to you, you

         20  should be in favor of expanding the Bottle Bill to

         21  include iced tea and water and juice, which is the

         22  proposal that's before the legislature in Albany --

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- If that's

         25  your, if it's better for the City that those
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          2  containers get out of the waste stream, then you

          3  should be in favor of expansion of the Bottle Bill,

          4  in my opinion, especially because the consumer who

          5  takes it back to the store, it ultimately doesn't

          6  cost that consumer anything.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I'm sure

          8  if it's at the State level, they're going to work it

          9  out.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay, well,

         11  I think that you and the Mayor should be advocates

         12  of that.  But, let me turn for a moment to the

         13  battery issue, which, right now, except for car

         14  batteries, which I think are dealt with separately,

         15  they're not recycled.  Do batteries, from the

         16  Department's point of view, do batteries pose a

         17  particular problem in the waste stream?

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  From the

         19  Department's point of view, I mean, we have to

         20  collect them, and it's no big deal collecting it.  I

         21  think the issue and the concern is where does it end

         22  up?  Is it going to go to a waste energy facility or

         23  is it going to a landfill? And what kind of problems

         24  may there be in that type of disposal?

         25                 We want to see batteries get recycled
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          2  or brought back.  I mentioned in my testimony

          3  there's a number of ways that the public can address

          4  it and has been able to address it for many years.

          5  It's getting better every year, with many companies,

          6  and I mentioned Verizon and Staples and other

          7  companies that will take back your rechargeable

          8  batteries.  We have a self help, drop- off sites

          9  around the City, where people can drop off a number

         10  of items, one of them being your dry cell batteries

         11  or batteries in general, which we will have recycled

         12  or properly disposed of.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, first

         14  of all, let me just clarify, I think I know the

         15  answer, but I'll ask you, the, if you have a regular

         16  battery or household battery, not recyclable for the

         17  moment, a regular flashlight battery say, or

         18  battery, well, flashlight battery, that's supposed

         19  to go in the waste stream, that doesn't go with your

         20  metal and glass, is that correct?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, that goes

         22  with your waste, right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay.  Do

         24  those batteries cause any problem being in the waste

         25  stream?

                                                            66

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, I think

          3  the battery industry has come a long way on the dry

          4  cell battery.  I mean, I'm sure people can point out

          5  they can do even better, but the big objection years

          6  ago was the mercury, and they took that out of the

          7  battery.  So, the dry cell battery is not the

          8  problem that it once was.  So, I think there's been

          9  a lot of improvements made in the industry for that.

         10    If people want to, they can drop them off at our

         11  sites.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  No, I

         13  understand that. But, with respect to the

         14  rechargeable batteries, those, do those pose a

         15  particular problem?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  I think there

         17  is concern about those in the, in waste energy

         18  facilities and in burial.  I don't think it's a

         19  major problem, but it's one that the battery

         20  industry has tried to deal with, because they want

         21  to be good neighbors, basically, and they've set up

         22  systems for taking those back.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Do you know

         24  what percentage of the batteries in New York City

         25  that are sold are, in fact, returned?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, I don't.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Is there a

          4  way for you to find out?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  There probably

          6  is.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Would it be

          8  a good thing to do?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, we can

         10  look at it.  I suspect, I don't know, I don't want

         11  to guess at it, but we'll have to see how we could

         12  do that.  I'm not sure how we could do it yet, but,

         13  you know, you probably ask questions and maybe

         14  somebody can figure out a way of doing that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, if

         16  there are programs that take them back voluntarily,

         17  as you've indicated, and I think you're correct, one

         18  could certainly find out from the people running

         19  those programs, how many they get back.  I'm sure

         20  the industry could tell you roughly how many are

         21  sold in the City.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  There's

         23  probably a way of looking at it.  We can look at it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But, as far

         25  as you're concerned, from the Department's point of
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          2  view, this is not a high priority?  Getting those --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, you

          4  know, I think, I think it's a form of recycling.

          5  So, if it's recycling, it's a high priority.  I

          6  think a high priority for this Department is

          7  handling the material that people no longer want,

          8  and we can handle them in two ways.  One, we can

          9  recycle it.  We can get people and companies to help

         10  us to recycle it.  Two, we have to take it and bury

         11  it or burn it.  So, that is a high priority and the

         12  little pieces that go into it, are they low or high

         13  on the scale?  No, there all in the same category.

         14  It's a high priority.  It's the Department's mission

         15  in this City.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, if its

         17  a high priority, Commissioner, with all respect,

         18  and, then it would seem to me, and you tout the

         19  voluntary programs, which is fine, I think it

         20  behooves you to find out whether these are working.

         21  If, if one percent of the batteries are coming back

         22  through the program, then saying that there's a

         23  program is meaningless.  If 50 percent are coming

         24  back to the program, then I would say, you know,

         25  we've got something going there.  Maybe we ought to
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          2  encourage the expansion of that, do more advertising

          3  or whatever else.  My suspicion is it's closer to

          4  one percent than 50 percent.  But, I guess we could

          5  do a study, but I think maybe your Department, since

          6  you're interested in recycling, that that would be

          7  something you should do.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you Mr.

         10  Koppell, thank you Commissioner.  Let me just, one

         11  more question, I think.  Do you see a point where

         12  the, any time in the future, where the Department

         13  would collect other materials at the curbside than

         14  what we're collecting now?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, here

         16  again, we mentioned earlier, we talk about the

         17  plastic, we talk about textiles.  I think what's

         18  going to drive our decision probably has a lot to do

         19  with Hugo Neu in many ways, as to what, what they

         20  can market, what they figure they can have us

         21  collect and market, because we have to look the, the

         22  cost of this.  If it's something that can be

         23  included with the metal, glass, or with the paper,

         24  then we have to try it.  Then the economics of it is

         25  going to be much better.  But, if it's something
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          2  that we have to make a special collection for, the

          3  economy's start to not look as good, and then,

          4  maybe, depending on what you're looking at, maybe

          5  there's another way of disposing of it or getting it

          6  recycled, rather than the Department collecting it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Just to, and, of

          8  course, I'm thinking about electronics again.  If I

          9  came, went to one of the self help centers that are

         10  open now, I guess one day a week, and if I brought

         11  my old computer there, would they accept it there?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, it's not

         13  on their list --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  It's not

         15  hazardous, it's not hazardous enough?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I don't

         17  know, I'd really have to check, I don't, as far as I

         18  know, it's not hazardous.  But, whether you, if you

         19  get a lot of them there is it a problem? I don't

         20  know.  That is something that we really haven't

         21  talked with DEC about.  So, I'm not sure.  But, I

         22  think we have to look for other approaches, and we

         23  have to look at the long run to do this, and see how

         24  we're going to address it.  It's in its infancy now

         25   --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  But I --

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- And we do

          4  have to address it --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- But I think

          6  a lot of experts say that over time, it's going to

          7  become more and more of a percentage of our daily

          8  waste output is going to be things like this.  So,

          9  if -- I know the Department worked with the

         10  manufacturers on this program, but if you had a

         11  truck load of old computers right now, is there

         12  anything that the Department does with it, or would

         13  it just go into the landfill?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  No, with the

         15  Department computers, we have a recycling company

         16  that handles that.  All the electronic equipment

         17  that produced within the Department --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  But, suppose I

         19  pulled up to your office and said, Commissioner, I

         20  went out and I picked- up a truck load of old

         21  computers?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well, I would

         23  direct you, really, to a recycler.  I would mention

         24  the recycling company we have, and there's a cost to

         25  that.  They're not going to take them for nothing,
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          2  so there is a cost to it.  But, you'd have to look

          3  for a company to do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  So, outside of

          5  Department initiatives, any electronic equipment

          6  that the Department collects now ends up in the

          7  normal trash stream, currently?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Right, if

          9  somebody puts it out there, and it's a small

         10  percentage.  But, you're right, we have to look at

         11  the future and see how we can do it, what's the best

         12  way to, and what's the easiest way to do it.  I

         13  mean, setting up a self help dump to drop them off,

         14  maybe that's more difficult to get to than the store

         15  where you bought the product. You know, so we have

         16  to look at that and think about it.  We --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  But, maybe

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- Want to

         19  make sure we get ourselves clear --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  If I could --

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  -- That we're

         22  right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- Just suggest

         24  maybe even a pilot in one district, and just say,

         25  you know, say alright, one day a month we're going
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          2  to send out a truck to pick that stuff up and, I

          3  mean, because we've done pilot --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Well --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- Recycling

          6  started as a pilot.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Right now,

          8  it's very, very expensive, because it's very limited

          9  amount in the waste stream, and to send truck

         10  around, you've got to follow the whole route, or

         11  people got to call up, it gets to be very expensive

         12  and we really have to look at that.

         13                 Then, you're starting to set up a

         14  system, I mean, if you say, okay, let's do that,

         15  let's do a pilot.  What are we telling the public?

         16  Is that how we're going to do it?  Maybe it's not

         17  the right way to do it.  I mean, if we're going to

         18  do a pilot, or do a program, I think we better make

         19  sure we think this out and we have partners in, in

         20  the plan.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay, I'll put

         22  that on my list for my next dream.  Okay.  I want to

         23  thank you, as always, Commissioner, for taking the

         24  time to come to the Council, off your busy schedule

         25  and to discuss these issues with us openly and
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          2  forthrightly and for being very informative.  And,

          3  thank your staff, as well, for being responsive to

          4  all our requests, certainly, some of the unsung

          5  heroes who work for the New York City Department of

          6  Sanitation.  So, thank you all very much.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you.  Oh,

          9  and thanks again for being with us last week when we

         10  honored the two fellas from Staten Island, thank

         11  you.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOHERTY:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay, again,

         14  furthering our goal to hear ideas that, hopefully,

         15  we can work with the Department in putting into

         16  implementation in the future, Mark Vaccaro, from the

         17  Citywide Recycling Advisory Board, Virali Gokaldas,

         18  from NRDC, and Barbara Warren from the Zero Waste

         19  Campaign and the Consumers Union.  And, is somebody,

         20  is someone going to stay from the Department?  Thank

         21  you.  So, this way, everybody who brings their great

         22  ideas knows that they will be transcribed and

         23  delivered back to the Department.  Thank you very

         24  much counselor.  Okay, Mr. Vaccaro, you want to

         25  begin?  We'll go from left to right, as I see it.

                                                            75

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 MR. VACCARO:  Thank you very much Mr.

          3  Chair.  Good afternoon Chairman McMahon and Members

          4  of the Committee.  I'm Mark Vaccaro.  I serve as the

          5  Co- Chair of the Citywide Recycling Advisory Board,

          6  the CRAB, which was created by Local Law 19, and

          7  offer this statement in behalf, in its behalf.  I

          8  want to thank and commend you for holding this

          9  Hearing today.

         10                 With the Mayor's proposed

         11  comprehensive --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Mr. Vaccaro, I

         13  just wanted to ask you, that whole thing about the

         14  suspension recycling, that was a dream I had, right?

         15    That wasn't, that didn't really happen?

         16                 MR. VACCARO:  I remember putting mine

         17  out forever. I just don't remember any break.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay.

         19                 MR. VACCARO:  I think I was on Staten

         20  Island at that time too.  My comments today draw

         21  from the CRAB's 15 year history of advocacy for

         22  progressive waste management policies and practices,

         23  including aggressive recycling and waste prevention.

         24  As always, we intend our comments to be challenging

         25  for the long term, as well as practical in
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          2  identifying immediate short- term steps the City of

          3  New York down a green path for efficient solid waste

          4  management.  That combination proved successful in

          5  the 2002 recycling round table convened by the CRAB

          6  and the Center for Economic and Environmental

          7  Partnership, provoking both the need for a long-

          8  term investment, as well as an effective partnership

          9  between the City and recycling industry.

         10                 In general, the materials that exist

         11  in New York City waste stream that we feel can be

         12  targeted immediately can be characterized as more

         13  metal, glass and plastic for the curbside recycling

         14  program, yard waste, leaves and grass clippings,

         15  used electronics, used carpeting, that would mean

         16  all fabric, by the way, used, reusable construction

         17  material, used tires, reusable items, such as

         18  furniture, clothing, books and salvage, household

         19  hazardous waste.

         20                 There are a variety of mechanisms for

         21  collecting these items, neighborhood community-

         22  based collection events, permanent drop- off sites,

         23  buy- back centers or collection vehicles for low

         24  income communities, and of course, additional

         25  designated routes and trucks for the expanded
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          2  curbside collection.

          3                 With metal, glass and plastic and

          4  paper for the curbside recycling program, it is

          5  appropriate that a City and its recycling

          6  contractors have a mandatory rolling six month

          7  reviews of markets, markets and technology, to

          8  determine when new materials, in particular, three

          9  through seven plastics, can be added to the curbside

         10  recycling program.

         11                 The City should also cultivate a

         12  partnership with private enterprise to stimulate

         13  growth in every aspect of successful urban resource

         14  management.  It's been often said, but can be said

         15  again, that the recent contract award to Hugo Neu to

         16  process the City's recyclables represents

         17  significant progress. There are other Visy's and

         18  Hugo Neu's out there and we need to find and

         19  cultivate.  This spurs industry and creates local

         20  jobs and revenues for the City.

         21                 The City should engage in

         22  constructive educational enforcement program that

         23  communicates with residents who are recycling

         24  incorrectly, and tells them how to correct their

         25  errors.  The City's only capturing 50 percent of the
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          2  targeted materials in the curbside recycling

          3  program, and the solution lies in reaching out to

          4  individuals and helping them recycle better and

          5  motivating them to recycle.  The City needs to

          6  consider using media outlets focused on non- English

          7  as a first language speakers.  It needs to keep its

          8  outreach materials extremely simple, direct and

          9  action- oriented.  Think differently, commercials on

         10  Spanish Novellas, Chinese historical dramas.  We do

         11  these terrible mailings.  We don't do anything

         12  that's going to get these targeted markets.

         13                 Community- based drop- off events and

         14  programs have an invaluable educational component

         15  and instill an ethic and practice of conserving

         16  valuable things, rather than throwing them away in

         17  the trash.  The visionary Waste Prevention Community

         18  Coordinator program that the City Council funded in

         19  2001 has a significant impact in terms of building

         20  demand for special collection and drop- off

         21  opportunities.  While the per ton cost is high, the

         22  educational component, which cannot be measured and

         23  is essential for a successful expansion recycling

         24  program, reduces that cost by increases awareness,

         25  by increasing awareness and actually modifying the
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          2  behavior to promote compliance.

          3                 As an interim measure, we support

          4  continuing nascent community- based drop- off for E-

          5  waste, not because the volumes that it capture, but

          6  because it begins the process of public education

          7  about E- waste management that will serve as a

          8  foundation for broader initiatives.  As a long- term

          9  measure, we believe the City should monitor efforts

         10  elsewhere around the nation, such as in California

         11  and Maine, around policies and programs to divert E-

         12  waste from disposal in material recovery system.

         13                 These initiatives deal with

         14  complexities of this issue, including how to create

         15  necessary infrastructure and the business

         16  opportunities inherent in that industry, and the

         17  toxic nature of some components of E- waste.  The

         18  car battery model of mandated acceptance of returned

         19  batteries for retailers and garages could be a

         20  possible solution, possible.  All electronic

         21  retailers could be required to accept old, used

         22  electronic equipments in an indirect EPR for

         23  computers and electronics. Indeed, this issue could

         24  provide a classic opportunity for a development for

         25  broad- based task force charged with developing New
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          2  York City's policy in respect to long- term

          3  management of E waste.  I really think we do need a

          4  task force on this, it's, it's a complicated issue

          5  and we're a big City.

          6                 The new CSWMP also included planning

          7  and siting for permanent drop- off facilities that

          8  could be used for hard to collect waste materials,

          9  such as organics, household hazardous waste, used

         10  electronics, used carpeting and reuseables.  These

         11  services might be included in the design of the new

         12  marine transfer stations and at private transfer

         13  stations, via incentives that promote these public

         14  uses.  These changes should reflect such uses, and

         15  an educational function could also be built on these

         16  sites as well.

         17                 In particular, the City wants to

         18  collect, in particular, if the City wants to collect

         19  more organics, it must have more composting sites

         20  within the City borders.  For example, an

         21  opportunity for a leaf and yard waste composting

         22  site in Brooklyn is in jeopardy because the

         23  community found legal grounds, procedures and

         24  protocols that, that DSNY should have followed and

         25  allegedly did not, to successfully challenge it.
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          2                 Leaf and yard waste offers the

          3  quickest and simplest boost in recycling rates.  The

          4  City needs to expand Fall leaf collection from late

          5  September to November.  The City needs to mirror the

          6  Fall leaf collection with a Spring clean- up yard

          7  waste collection from March to May.  This would

          8  capture significant quantities of organics that is

          9  currently being handled as MSW.  All these

         10  collections should be in paper bags. This would

         11  visually separate green waste from other waste, and

         12  help educate the community on composting.  Also, it

         13  will make the composting operation substantially

         14  more efficient.

         15                 Finally, the City is long overdue in

         16  instituting a ban on collection of grass clippings

         17  and should aggressively promote a leave it on the

         18  lawn program.  That's one single law that would

         19  massively increase our recycling rates.

         20                 With respect to the buy- back and

         21  redemption programs, the City of Chicago has been

         22  very successful mobile buy- back programs operating

         23  with corporate partners in several of its public

         24  housing complexes.  It targets paper, metal and

         25  glass and has worked with local retailers to accept
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          2  vouchers that people get from their trash, collected

          3  materials in lieu of cash.

          4                 Adding an economic incentives to get

          5  materials out of the trash will attract high --

          6  sorry -- will attract participation rates from

          7  residents who are either not naturally inclined to

          8  recycle because it is law or the right thing to do,

          9  or cannot do it, recycle, because they live in a New

         10  York City Housing Authority Complex that cannot

         11  maintain a curbside recycling program.  The City

         12  could implement similar programs in the five lowest

         13  performing curbside recycling districts.

         14                 The City must commit to an on- going

         15  community based education programs, especially at

         16  this point, where most residents are confused and/or

         17  in doubt of the commitment of the City due to the

         18  changes in the past three years.  People need to see

         19  the City actively supporting and promoting the ethic

         20  of waste prevention reuse and recycling.

         21                 While DSNY has done a commendable job

         22  of creating electronic resources through its

         23  Wasteless website and New York Stuff Exchange,

         24  grassroots support for neighborhood thrift shops,

         25  job training programs and every other small
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          2  business, artist, entrepreneur that is engaged in

          3  using materials destined for trash should receive

          4  support in terms of exposure, networking, tax

          5  incentives and cooperation with City agencies.

          6                 The City should convene a special

          7  task force to participate with City agencies during

          8  the on- going planning, passing and implementation

          9  of the new CSWMP.  Representatives from the task

         10  force should be locally elected officials, relevant

         11  community boards, NGO's, environmental advocates and

         12  residents of the City of New York.

         13                 Our final recommendation to you this

         14  afternoon is to recognize that the diversity of this

         15  City does not lend itself to one size fits all

         16  recycling programs.  A variety of innovative

         17  approaches and program models should be implemented

         18  where, when and where possible.  For instance,

         19  Staten Island could be separating food waste, leaf

         20  and yard waste quite aggressively than other areas

         21  of the City.  Manhattan compels a different approach

         22  than one that could be optimally applied in Staten

         23  Island.  If there is a demand for community drop-

         24  off events in Manhattan and Brooklyn, support these

         25  events in order to enhance their value and appeal.
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          2  Thank you again for this opportunity to discuss

          3  these important issues and thank you for your

          4  commitment to recycling.

          5                 MS. GOKALDAS:  Good afternoon

          6  Chairman McMahon and Council Member Koppell.  My

          7  name is Virali Gokaldas.  I'm a policy analyst with

          8  the Natural Resources Defense Council.  As you know,

          9  NRDC has been active on solid waste issues in New

         10  York for more than 20 years, including the passage

         11  and implementation of the City's landmark 1989

         12  recycling law.

         13                 Before offering NRDC's comments, we

         14  would like to thank this Committee and the City

         15  Council, as a whole, for its continued leadership on

         16  recycling, especially in helping to fully restore

         17  New York's curbside program, as well as facilitating

         18  the City's recently announced 20- year contract for

         19  recycling our metal, glass and plastic items.

         20                 We are pleased to be here today to

         21  offer brief testimony on the future of recycling in

         22  New York City.  Please note that these comments are

         23  not intended to constitute NRDC's comments on the

         24  Administration's 20- year Solid Waste Management

         25  Plan, which we have just begun to review, and parts
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          2  of which have not yet been released by the

          3  Department of Sanitation.  We look forward to

          4  offering detailed comments later, at a Hearing later

          5  this Fall on the SWMP.

          6                 Today, our remarks will touch upon

          7  the proposed battery recycling bill and highlight

          8  how the City can continue to strengthen its core

          9  curbside program.  Most of our comments, however,

         10  will focus on the need for the City to pass

         11  legislation on one of the fastest growing and most

         12  toxic segments of our waste stream, electronic

         13  goods.  I'd also like to note that NRDC is working

         14  closely with a team of researchers from the Yale

         15  School of Forestry on this issue, one of whom, Sarah

         16  Matheson (phonetic), has joined me today.

         17                 First, NRDC supports the overall

         18  thrust of Intro. 70, which requires a deposit

         19  program for primary and rechargeable batteries.

         20  Batteries are a small, but highly toxic part of the

         21  waste stream, that because of their small size,

         22  they're often tossed into the trash.  A deposit on

         23  batteries would provide a strong incentive for

         24  consumers to return these objects to retailers, and

         25  deposit systems for other items, such as bottles and
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          2  cans have been shown around the world and here in

          3  New York, to be one of the most effective tools for

          4  attaining high recycling rates.

          5                 Next, we would like to offer a few

          6  brief comments on the City's core curbside program.

          7  With the recent announcement of the 20- year

          8  recycling contract, the City now has the opportunity

          9  to make recycling an even bigger cost winner.  As

         10  the full program has come back after a two- year

         11  hiatus, improved comprehensive education and

         12  outreach measures are critical to increasing

         13  diversion rates and improving the quality of our

         14  recyclables.

         15                 Additionally, with a hard- won

         16  processing contract now in hand, the City's

         17  collection costs have become an even bigger chunk of

         18  the City's expenditures.  Streamlining collection

         19  practices is a necessary component to making the

         20  overall program more cost- effective.  These

         21  recommendations, along with specific proposals for

         22  dealing with the City's organic waste are contained

         23  in the recent report issued by NRDC and the City's

         24  other leading environmental organizations, Recycling

         25  Returns  As you know, we have testified before this
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          2  Committee on some of those recommendations as well.

          3                 We would now like to shift our

          4  testimony to the need for a comprehensive City

          5  program to recycle computers, televisions and other

          6  electronic waste, commonly referred to as E- waste.

          7  Because technological advances continue to become

          8  more complex and render older models obsolete, E-

          9  waste is now one of the fastest growing segments of

         10  the waste stream, both in quantity and complexity.

         11                 While the amount of E- waste in our

         12  garbage may currently be small by volume, as

         13  Commissioner Doherty noticed, noted in his

         14  testimony, experts estimate that retired electronic

         15  goods, now being stockpiled in homes, businesses and

         16  schools, for example, will soon be tossed out with

         17  the garbage in significantly greater quantities.  In

         18  fact, on our way, on our way here to the Hearing

         19  today, we passed a corner over on Fifth Avenue and

         20  saw a computer sitting out with the regular basket

         21  collection.  It was just ironic that it happened

         22  today of all days.

         23                 Studies estimate that 315 to 600

         24  million computers in the U.S. Are obsolete and that

         25  E- waste is growing almost three times faster than
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          2  our overall municipal waste stream.  Further,

          3  electronic devices contain a toxic soup of compounds

          4  that are known to have adverse impacts on human

          5  health, including lead, mercury, cadmium, arsenic

          6  and polyvinyl chloride, PVC.  Improper disposal of

          7  these items in landfills or in incinerators poses

          8  severe health and environmental threats through

          9  ground water contamination and toxic air emissions.

         10                 Finally, the City does not have an

         11  infrastructure or financial resources to effectively

         12  deal with this part of the waste stream, currently.

         13  A more comprehensive approach is needed to pull

         14  these items out of the garbage truck and into

         15  recycling facilities.

         16                 For these reasons, NRDC strongly

         17  believes that the time has come for New York City to

         18  adopt a system for recycling E- waste that is based

         19  on a producer take- back model.  Producer take-

         20  back, otherwise known as extended producer

         21  responsibility, requires manufacturers of products

         22  to properly recycle or safely dispose of their used

         23  products.  The EPR model begins to shift the cost of

         24  managing these retired products from tax payers to

         25  the companies that produce them.  This is not a far-
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          2  fetched concept.  EPR take- back programs are

          3  currently being implemented throughout the European

          4  Union and Canada.  And, here in the U.S., the State

          5  of Maine just passed the nation's first EPR law for

          6  electronic goods.

          7                 We want to emphasize that EPR has

          8  several advantages over the alternative of an

          9  advance fee system, where consumers are asked to pay

         10  a point of purchase fee at retailer stores.  Advance

         11  fee programs can create more government bureaucracy

         12  and shift costs onto already overloaded municipal

         13  waste systems.  Point of purchase systems without an

         14  EPR component can also burden retailers and unfairly

         15  tax consumers.

         16                 Alternatively, an EPR- based model

         17  can provide significant cost benefits over advance

         18  fee only systems, because producers are involved in

         19  the management of E- waste.  These companies are

         20  better equipped to design cost- effective recycling

         21  programs for their product, and they would also have

         22  stronger incentives to reduce the toxic components

         23  of their products and make them more recyclable in

         24  order to lower their own disposal costs.

         25                 In fact, EPR in Europe and Japan has
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          2  already resulted in better product construction and

          3  reduced toxicity in the waste stream.  Of course, we

          4  don't get those benefits here in the U.S. At this

          5  point and time.

          6                 In closing, we believe that the City

          7  must take steps now to begin reducing the toxic

          8  nature of our garbage. Over the last two years,

          9  voluntary collection events, such as the one

         10  recently announced in the Department of Sanitation

         11  flyers, have begun to raise visibility of E- waste

         12  recycling by collecting over 16 tons of E- waste in

         13  just three collection days.

         14                 This shows that residents are

         15  concerned about throwing their computers in the

         16  trash and points to the need for an easy, consistent

         17  method for recycling them.  In fact, any time we

         18  bring up this issue with members of NRDC or

         19  colleagues, people have a real visceral reaction

         20  when it comes to computer recycling.  Almost

         21  everybody has an old computer stored in their back

         22  closet.  At the same time, while we commend the

         23  Administration for supporting the concept of EPR and

         24  note that Commissioner Doherty mentioned

         25  manufacturers' responsibilities today, there's
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          2  little indication that real action will occur in

          3  Washington, DC or Albany on this issue.

          4                 Accordingly, we call on the Council

          5  to advance EPR- based, an EPR, sorry, an EPR- based

          6  model for E- waste recycling.  This approach will

          7  provide sufficient convenience to New Yorkers and

          8  ensure that their items will be collected and

          9  recycled.  We look forward to working with the

         10  Council and the Administration to advance this law

         11  and to set forth a model for the rest of the nation.

         12    Thank you for the opportunity to testify.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you

         14  Virali and just to state that meetings have been

         15  ongoing between your staff and our staff to look at

         16  possible legislation in that area for E recycling,

         17  E- waste recycling.  So, we're hearing you.

         18                 MS. WARREN:  Good afternoon.  I'd

         19  like to thank Chairman McMahon and Council Member

         20  Koppell for all your efforts on solid waste on

         21  behalf of New York City.  My name is Barbara Warren.

         22    I'd like to first address what we heard today from

         23  the Commissioner.  I have to say that I'm disturbed,

         24  dismayed, discouraged to hear the Commissioner say,

         25  I would say ten to 12 times, that he was thinking
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          2  about things related to recycling. That's

          3  disturbing, particularly since the Department and

          4  the City just put out a 20- year Solid Waste

          5  Management Plan, to which many of us have been

          6  preparing to hear that plan.

          7                 Now, our understanding would be that

          8  they would have done their thinking before they put

          9  it out, and we've been in a process, the New York

         10  City Zero Waste Campaign, for a year now, with about

         11  40 participating organizations in trying to prepare,

         12  you know, our view of where we should go.  We

         13  produced, in June, close to 200 page document, which

         14  was a zero waste plan. It had detailed steps about

         15  some of the things the City could do, which we

         16  encourage the City to adopt, and we do not consider

         17  that detailed work to be just nearly rhetoric.  It

         18  was very serious proposals that we made.

         19                 So, but on to the thing that I was

         20  going to talk about today, is that, my topic was

         21  really infrastructure.  So, in New York City today,

         22  we have far more infrastructure for wasting than for

         23  really any alternatives, and that's because we've

         24  invested in waste and in wasting.  We have built

         25  considerable infrastructure and vehicle fleets to
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          2  basically haul, move and dump trash, and only a

          3  massive citizen effort prevented the City from

          4  actually spending $4 billion on five incinerators,

          5  you know, an environmentally unsound option.  So,

          6  essentially, the City has pursued these wasting

          7  efforts and we have failed, in general, to invest in

          8  sound alternatives to waste disposal.

          9                 This failure almost scuttled our

         10  recycling program.  Yes, it was real, that was not a

         11  dream, Chairman McMahon, and in the absence of the

         12  Visy paper facility, with the remanufacturing of

         13  paper, it is likely that we would have lost

         14  recycling altogether, and it would have been done

         15  permanent damage to the City.

         16                 Now, we've taken a major step forward

         17  with the plans to build the recycling processing

         18  plant in Brooklyn. However, that plant won't be

         19  finished until 2007, and the reality is the City

         20  should have built recycling, not recycling,

         21  processing capacity long ago.  So, today, you and

         22  we, the City Council, have an opportunity to plan

         23  for and build sufficient infrastructure for the

         24  future.  Sorry, my notes are a little bit of a mess.

         25    That is, after all, the whole purpose of the solid
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          2  waste management planning that was envisioned by the

          3  Solid Waste Management Act of 1988 under State law.

          4                 The New York City Zero Waste Campaign

          5  urges the Sanitation to Committee to ensure that the

          6  City's Solid Waste Management Plan includes plans

          7  for the following infrastructure: Composting

          8  facilities, anaerobic digestion facilities.  Organic

          9  material represents approximately one- quarter of

         10  the New York City's waste stream and we should plan

         11  for handling this material in New York City.

         12  Without the infrastructure, we can't have the

         13  programs.

         14                 The second infrastructure need we

         15  have is for reuse centers and people inherently

         16  understand the value of goods previously owned.

         17  But, New York City, unfortunately, does not have the

         18  infrastructure facilities to facilitate the movement

         19  and exchange of these goods.  Certainly, the Stuff

         20  Exchange is a movement forward, we won't deny that.

         21  But, we need more.  We need the reuse centers we've

         22  talked about.  We need a reuse truck fleet.

         23                 It's particularly unacceptable to

         24  have City agencies or schools that are strapped for

         25  cash in this time of tight budgets to not have the
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          2  ability to have a truck fleet exchange goods, you

          3  know cash deprived agencies to have the things they

          4  need, whether it's file cabinets or furniture or

          5  whatever.  They really need, and so I've added the

          6  truck fleet into this infrastructure.

          7                 The third thing is remanufacturing

          8  and recycling industrial parks.  It is these

          9  investments on these kinds of facilities that will

         10  provide the economic development and jobs, encourage

         11  a degree of competition for materials in our waste

         12  stream, and prevent a strangle hold of ever-

         13  increasing waste export costs, due to the relative

         14  lack of competition in the disposal business.

         15                 So, some of these recommendations, I

         16  would mention, were in, in fact, in the New York

         17  City Solid Waste Management Plan in 1992.  It's 12

         18  years later, and it hasn't happened.  If we don't

         19  ensure that the infrastructure is there, in this

         20  Plan, we'll be still waiting for us to finally do

         21  the right thing with our waste.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Council Member

         23  Koppell has a question, I think.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Question for

         25  Mr. Vaccaro, you, in your statement, you mention a
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          2  number of things that you think ought to be

          3  targeted, you don't include batteries, unless you

          4  include batteries under the term of electronics.

          5  Have you thought about batteries at all?

          6                 MR. VACCARO:  Personally, yes, but,

          7  unfortunately, the CRAB itself, which I'm sort of

          8  the spokesman for, hasn't really dealt with the

          9  issue.  So, we, we had to exclude it from our

         10  testimony.  It's, it, just the nature of being an

         11  advisory board.  We didn't have enough time.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, I

         13  would encourage you, the bill's been around a while,

         14  but, listen, it's never too late.  I would encourage

         15  you to look at it.  I also would like to have your

         16  thoughts, because you talked about ways of

         17  collecting items, and now I'm not only including

         18  batteries, but looking at your statement, some of

         19  those items could conceivably benefit from the

         20  deposit system, which has worked, in my opinion,

         21  extremely well with bottles and cans.  Have you, has

         22  your committee thought about deposits on any other

         23  kind of material as a way of encouraging consumers

         24  to return used materials?

         25                 MR. VACCARO:  I can honestly say that
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          2  deposits were politely, fiercely discussed in the

          3  CRAB with advocates on both sides, depending on the

          4  material being spoken about.  There are people that

          5  believe it, in our organization, that, that the era

          6  of deposits are over with because we need to support

          7  the ongoing large- scale infrastructure for

          8  recycling.

          9                 There are also a lot of other people

         10  that believe that deposits helped create this

         11  infrastructure and, again, because we're an advisory

         12  board, we haven't been able to come to a conclusion

         13  on this that's, that we can agree on.  The materials

         14  that we've talked about for deposits have been, you

         15  know, expanding the Bottle Bill, which we, and also

         16  some toxic materials, you know, basically.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Let me shift

         18  to Ms. Gokaldas from NRDC.  When you talk about

         19  producer responsibility, extended producer

         20  responsibility, what exactly are you saying?

         21                 MS. GOKALDAS:  Primarily that the

         22  companies that are producing these items are

         23  responsible for helping to manage them, for

         24  recycling them.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Is it just,
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          2  in terms of legislation, is it that you want a

          3  mandate that they will take them back?

          4                 MS. GOKALDAS:  Something along those

          5  lines.  At this point, we're still trying to

          6  determine what the best structure, what the best

          7  frame is.  But, we are certain that it should

          8  include an EPR component to it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, the

         10  EPR means they'll take it back, is that what EPR

         11  means?

         12                 MS. GOKALDAS:  Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And it is

         14  true now, is it not, that we have such programs for

         15  car batteries, for instance? At least the service

         16  stations, I believe, have to take them back.

         17                 MS. GOKALDAS:  I believe we have a

         18  similar, I'm not too familiar with the details

         19  around the car battery recycling --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  And tires,

         21  as well, I believe, that people who sell tires have

         22  to take the old tires back --

         23                 MS. GOKALDAS:  Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- Don't

         25  they.  Oil as well, yes, yes.  So, those are all
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          2  models, are they not?

          3                 MS. GOKALDAS:  They are, as is the

          4  Bottle Bill program as well.  It's a similar --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Right.

          6                 MS. GOKALDAS:  -- Scheme.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  So, I was

          8  wondering whether maybe deposits would be

          9  appropriate on some other items, other than just

         10  bottles and cans and batteries, which, at least I'm

         11  interested in.

         12                 MS. GOKALDAS:  Right.  We haven't

         13  given too much thought in terms of the how the

         14  entire system will be set up, but that certainly is

         15  something that we are investigating at this point in

         16  time.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I mean I

         18  think the -- just briefly, and then I'll stop, but

         19  the deposit system creates responsibilities both

         20  with respect to the producer or distributor and the

         21  consumer, and that has, in my opinion, it's

         22  benefitted, also doesn't create any significant

         23  responsibility on the part of the municipality.  It

         24  takes it out of the municipal responsibility and

         25  puts it in the hands of the producer and the
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          2  consumer.  But, a deposit system, the consumer who

          3  returns the item, ultimately doesn't pay a

          4  significant cost.  There may be a limited time when

          5  the money is not available to them, but they get it

          6  back.

          7                 MS. GOKALDAS:  And that is, that is

          8  correct, and there's, you know, certainly, a number

          9  of hybrids that are out there that could include a

         10  deposit as well as a take back component.  So,

         11  again, in terms of looking at EPR, we're looking at

         12  the various models that are out there and what is

         13  best for the City, for consumers, as well as for

         14  recycling these materials and ensuring that they

         15  don't get dumped or burned in incinerators.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you

         18  ladies and sir, and let me just say, Barbara, many

         19  of your concerns are shared by us and we will try to

         20  advance the dialogue around the SWMP and the

         21  language in the SWMP, as we go to more detailed

         22  hearings on the SWAMP itself.  We just received it,

         23  the draft, this weekend. So, this hearing was really

         24  scheduled before, and it is sort of a broader

         25  context for us to look at the recycling component of
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          2  that and to sort of forward think recycling.

          3                 But, the more detailed things

          4  contained in the SWMP will be the subject of a

          5  series of Hearings, both here at the Council and

          6  throughout the City.  So, we'll have more time to

          7  look at those things more specifically.  Haven't

          8  been able, because of the Yankees, I haven't been

          9  able to read the whole thing yet.

         10                 MS. WARREN:  Right.  I haven't been

         11  able to read it either.  So, I was just giving some,

         12  a number of us are doing the same.  We're choosing a

         13  topic in the Zero Waste Campaign, and we're talking

         14  to you as it relates to recycling.

         15                 MS. GOKALDAS:  And I would like to

         16  say briefly that we're delighted to be here today to

         17  talk about the future of recycling as well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you,

         19  thank you, and we're delighted that you are here

         20  today.  Okay.  Our next panel is Christine Datz-

         21  Romero from the Lower East Side Ecology Center, Resa

         22  Dimino, from the Grassroots Recycling Network, and

         23  Professor Marjorie Clarke from Waste Prevention.

         24  Okay, following my pattern from before, Resa, do you

         25  want to begin? And then we'll go from left to right,
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          2  if that's okay, as I see it.

          3                 MS. DIMINO:  Sure that's fine.

          4  Thanks.  Good afternoon and thanks for inviting me

          5  to come down and testify today at the Hearing.

          6  Sorry I was late, it is quite a long trip down from

          7  the Central Bronx, so it took me quite a while to

          8  get here.

          9                 I'm the President of the Grassroots

         10  Recycling Network, and I'm one of the authors of the

         11  recently released Reaching for Zero, the Citizens

         12  Plan for Zero Waste in New York City.  So, I'm happy

         13  to come here today to share with you my thoughts on

         14  how the City can build on its current curbside

         15  recycling program to increase diversion and achieve

         16  zero waste by 2024.

         17                 Today, I'm only going to focus on

         18  three key things, on adding materials to the program

         19  through targeted market development for new

         20  materials, a little bit about recycling

         21  infrastructure and then about extended producer

         22  responsibility.  As you know, I have a lot of

         23  thoughts on other elements that we can build on.

         24  So, I encourage you to go to our report and look at

         25  that in detail when you get some time.
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          2                 First, let me focus on market

          3  development.  In order to achieve increased levels

          4  of diversion, New York city needs to collect more

          5  materials through the curbside programs, and you

          6  can't collect them unless you have a good market for

          7  them.  But, experience in other communities shows us

          8  that we can collect wider ranges of materials if we

          9  put some attention to it. For example, St. Paul,

         10  Minnesota collects reusable goods and textiles at

         11  curbside.  A lot of different communities have begun

         12  to collect plastics one through seven, not just

         13  one's and two's, and communities like Broome County,

         14  New York have been able to add plate glass and

         15  ceramics and other types of glass, not container

         16  glass, to their programs, by adding new recycling

         17  technologies.

         18                 To effectively add materials, the

         19  City and its recycling contractor have to work very

         20  closely in tandem to create or enter markets for

         21  these materials.  Very simply put, the City should

         22  develop a list of materials to explore for expanded

         23  recycling.  That should include, at a minimum,

         24  different types of glass, plastic containers numbers

         25  four through seven, film plastic, wood, tires,
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          2  buildings materials, non-reusable textiles, and

          3  things along those lines.

          4                 For each material, the City and the

          5  contractor should work closely together to see what

          6  markets exist and how it can work to access those

          7  markets.  Or, in a case where a market doesn't

          8  exist, what markets are possible and what can the

          9  City do to create and open those markets.  As the

         10  markets are accessed or opened, the City can then

         11  add those materials to the curbside collection

         12  system.

         13                 Creating and accessing markets is

         14  really an iterative process that requires the, some

         15  flexibility and interagency collaboration, like we

         16  haven't seen before in the City, or at least we've

         17  seen on pretty small scales.  The City has to

         18  harness its economic development strength to help

         19  attract and establish recycling businesses for new

         20  materials, and it must utilize its incredible

         21  purchasing power to support these businesses once

         22  they're established.

         23                 I'll give you an example, there's a

         24  synthetic lumber product out there, a number of

         25  them, but one in particular is made with a
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          2  combination of wood chips and film plastics.  They

          3  produce two by four's that can be used in park

          4  benches, on boardwalks and all over New York City

          5  parks and in other public applications.  In fact,

          6  Parks does use some of these materials. EDC could

          7  help attract a manufacturer like that to the City

          8  and the City Parks Department could serve as a

          9  primary market, and then once you did that, you

         10  could actually add film plastics and wood to the

         11  curbside program, and you'd have a stable local

         12  market.  You'd also have a local business creating

         13  jobs and tax revenues and things along those lines.

         14                 Along those lines, recycling

         15  industrial parks are a really important part of how

         16  we can build the infrastructure, as Barbara talked

         17  about, to expand recycling in the City for both

         18  residential and commercial waste.  Recycling

         19  industrial parks can capture the value of the

         20  materials that we currently send out of the City as

         21  waste, to fuel jobs and entrepreneurial

         22  opportunities, turning what's been a burden to, in

         23  most of our communities, into an opportunity for

         24  jobs and economic development.  They can provide

         25  space to incubate and house the new businesses that
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          2  will serve as markets for the materials we want to

          3  add to the program.

          4                 And, the City can supports these

          5  parks in a lot of different ways.  Just two

          6  examples, it can provide low cost space, enhance

          7  technical assistance and administrative support in

          8  the way that it does to the Hunts Point markets, the

          9  produce markets and things along those lines.  Or,

         10  it can actually pay recyclers a certain amount per

         11  ton reclaimed, to defray the cost of recycling and

         12  help make recycling in the City more economical as a

         13  business.  The City did that back in the late  '80's

         14  before it started the curbside recycling program

         15  when buy back centers were the primary option for

         16  recycling here.

         17                 Lastly, I want to talk about extended

         18  producer responsibility.  I know that was talked

         19  about a little bit in the earlier panel.  EPR is a

         20  policy approach that's taking hold all around the

         21  world.  It creates a framework that ensures that

         22  manufacturers or brand owners are financially

         23  responsible for a product or a packaging throughout

         24  its entire life cycle, including it's eventual

         25  recycling or disposal.
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          2                 There are a lot of benefits to these

          3  system, essentially they result in the cost of

          4  ultimate disposal being included in the cost of the

          5  product.  So, the consumer pays less for a produce

          6  that is more easily recycled and less wasteful. They

          7  also are a driver for design for recyclability in

          8  reducing the use of toxic chemicals, since

          9  recyclable and less toxic products are cheaper to

         10  dispose of and manage at the end of their lives.

         11  But, most importantly, EPR ensures that products and

         12  packaging are recycled or disposed of at no cost to

         13  the tax payer because the manufacturer actually

         14  bears the cost at some level or another.

         15                 In most cases, EPR systems require

         16  manufacturers or brand owners to pay into a system,

         17  usually managed by an independent third- party to

         18  recover a class of products, so electronics is a

         19  good example, or packaging.  EPR systems can also

         20  generate revenue for municipalities by requiring a

         21  third party system pay the cost of municipal

         22  recycling collections, transportation and

         23  processing.

         24                 There are a lot of different models

         25  in place.  The Bottle Bill deposit return system in
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          2  New York is one simple model.  In Europe, EPR

          3  systems are in place for packaging for electronics

          4  for automobiles.  Ontario, Canada has a quasi- EPR

          5  system that actually finances the curbside recycling

          6  program.

          7                 So, New York City should pursue the

          8  implementation of EPR on the local and the State

          9  level.  While EPR hasn't been implemented

         10  extensively at the local level before, there are no

         11  apparent legal restrictions to doing this and the

         12  City offers such a large economy of scale on par

         13  with many states, that it certainly seems viable for

         14  us to give that a shot.

         15                 Viable targets for EPR in New York

         16  City include disposable products likes plates, cups,

         17  razors, diapers, things along those lines,

         18  packaging, electronics, carpets, fluorescent bulbs,

         19  tires, batteries, all these problem materials that

         20  we need to get out of our waste stream.  So, those

         21  are just a few things that the City can do to build

         22  on its successes of the reintroduced program and the

         23  long- term contract for recycling. Again, I

         24  recommend that you read the Citizens Plan for more

         25  detail on these ideas, and on other ideas, to get
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          2  beyond recycling and move to zero waste.

          3                 DR. CLARKE:  I am Doctor Marjorie

          4  Clarke.  My comments today are endorsed by the City-

          5  wide recycling advisory board, the Manhattan SWAB --

          6  correct? And by the New York City Waste Prevention

          7  Coalition.

          8                 First, the problem, I've provided you

          9  there with just a color- coded pie chart there, to

         10  indicate that 50 percent of the waste stream has

         11  been targeted, but we're only collecting about a

         12  third of that.  The participation rate is quite low.

         13  The Cipollina reports also shows, from DSNY, that

         14  our diversion rate, the last time I looked, was only

         15  about 16 percent and, therefore, we lost ground,

         16  about 20 percent of our participation rate

         17  disappeared as a result of all of the massive

         18  program changes in recent years.

         19                 While targeting additional materials

         20  for processing in our recycling program, which would

         21  include things like textiles and plastics, which is

         22  the orange slice of the pie, compostables, which are

         23  in green, food, and yard waste and wood, and the

         24  yellow portion, which is targets for reuse and

         25  prevention, are all good ways to propel diversion
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          2  rates towards 100 percent.  We also need to improve

          3  our participation rates to close the huge gap

          4  between what is targeted and what is actually

          5  collected.  Figures that I'm giving you here are

          6  based on the 1990 waste composition study.

          7                 So, I want to talk about

          8  participation rate and how to improve that.

          9  Starting last Fall, I started to investigate this

         10  with students at CUNY, and so I've been studying

         11  recycling attitudes and behaviors in parts of the

         12  City where participation rates are both highest and

         13  lowest, primarily in the Bronx, Manhattan and

         14  Brooklyn, although some are in Staten Island and

         15  Queens, in order to discover and prioritize not only

         16  the reasons for this problem, but then to also to

         17  recommend changes in the City's program to address

         18  problem areas and improve the participation rates.

         19                 Since then, I had over 50 students

         20  collecting on the order of 3,000 of these two- page

         21  surveys, which I've attached there for you, as well

         22  as ground observations of street cleanliness and

         23  building recycling area conditions, to try to see,

         24  to make sense out of all of this, why it is that we

         25  have low participation rates in some areas and not
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          2  quite as low participation in others.

          3                 Though funds haven't been available

          4  to do an exhaustive review of all the data that I do

          5  have, I hope the Council would be interested in

          6  funding such research and a quick review of the data

          7  that I have shows the diversion and capture rates

          8  are related not only to cultural issues, such as the

          9  educational level of the person, language and

         10  income, but also to confusion about what to recycle,

         11  as well as forgetting to do it, and it's also due to

         12  the existence of barriers to recycling. That is, the

         13  basement recycling areas are unclean or unsavory,

         14  not enough bins and so forth.  And, that conditions

         15  in the neighborhood, in general, you know, have

         16  garbage in the streets and overflowing litter bins

         17  on the corners.

         18                 I'd like to be able to do a better

         19  analysis to actually show the degree to which there

         20  is relationship, but I think that there is based on

         21  what I've seen so far.

         22                 Preliminary recommendations can be

         23  made to improve participation rates in the areas of

         24  education, enforcement and sanitation services.  So,

         25  for education, DSNY must not assume that everyone
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          2  has an accurate understanding and motivation to

          3  recycle.  I've seen it in print in their reports

          4  that they've done, studies that show that everybody

          5  or 90 percent of people do have accurate

          6  understanding.

          7                 Educational approaches need to be

          8  diversified and more consistently delivered and the

          9  materials targeted at those who have, thus far, not

         10  been reached by the previous efforts. More of the

         11  same is not going to increase our participation

         12  rates.  The message must address not only what,

         13  where and when to recycle, but also why.  These are

         14  the people who are more resistant to instruction on

         15  this is what you do and when you do it, and so

         16  forth.  They need to have more motivation.

         17                 DSNY should make the information

         18  regarding a recycling program even simpler than it

         19  has already for those residents with very low

         20  educational experience.  This should include a blitz

         21  using media of all kinds and methods which would be

         22  seen by those who have missed the previous DSNY

         23  educational efforts.

         24                 After this initial simple campaign,

         25  there should be rollouts of other things, including
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          2  positive feedback on recycling accomplishments, like

          3  the City has collected enough aluminum to recreate a

          4  number of jet fleets and so forth, reminders,

          5  because people do forget and they've admitted that

          6  in my surveys, education tailored specifically to

          7  different cultural groups, and innovative changing

          8  approaches to keep the program fresh, because people

          9  just discard things that they've seen before.

         10                 DOS needs to increase the frequency

         11  of outreach, not just do it when there's a program

         12  change, and differentiate the type of educational

         13  approach.  For example, use not only printed

         14  literature, which reaches particular demographics,

         15  but not others, but also other ways of reaching

         16  those target populations.  It's clearly necessary to

         17  penetrate and convince those non- recyclers to get

         18  with the program.

         19                 Not only do we need education though,

         20  to improve participation, there are two other

         21  elements that I have found that we need to improve,

         22  and that's enforcement of DSNY regulations for

         23  recycling, as well as service improvements. There's

         24  also a need to understand the barriers to recycling,

         25  to see where there might problems which prevent or
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          2  dissuade residents from participating in a recycling

          3  program.

          4                 Participation must be made easier and

          5  more appealing.  DSNY should enforce its residential

          6  recycling regs, which require identifying and

          7  reducing any barriers to recycling. Specifically, to

          8  enforce that building managers provide sufficient

          9  bins for recycling, emptying these bins, having the

         10  recycling area in a well lit area that's safe,

         11  clean, rodent- free and conveniently located, and to

         12  tailor educational signage to different types of

         13  building layout.  For example, bring your

         14  recyclables to the basement or the vestibule or the

         15  sidewalk or the back yard, or whatever it is.

         16                 The City also needs to improve street

         17  cleaning and litter basket servicing in these areas.

         18    Improving the frequency and quality of street

         19  sweeping, better enforcement of sidewalk cleaning

         20  rules, and more frequent litter basket service,

         21  where needed, could improve attitudes about

         22  recycling in the low diversion neighborhoods of New

         23  York, and could very well improve neighborhood pride

         24  and inspire more personal responsibility for

         25  recycling.

                                                            115

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 City- wide recycling rates would also

          3  improve if the recycling program were kept stable,

          4  since capricious changes and reversals confuse and

          5  anger many residents and building supers.  Further

          6  research into the attitudes and reasons for non

          7  recycling behavior is needed.  I'm glad to hear that

          8  the Sanitation Department was starting to talk about

          9  that, and I hope that they will follow through,

         10  because this is going to be needed every year, for

         11  the next 20 years, to try and get to more and more

         12  people.

         13                 It's likely that the level of income

         14  of the people may play a role in how well each

         15  community recycles.  Low education, low income,

         16  minority residents may be working two or more jobs

         17  to make ends meet.  They may not have enough time to

         18  really understand what it is they have to do to

         19  recycle, or be too exhausted to pay careful

         20  attention to the rules.  Low income apartments are

         21  smaller and there may be a storage problem.

         22                 Future multivariate studies of the

         23  CUNY surveys that I've collected may reveal more

         24  insights about the characteristics of recyclers

         25  versus non- recyclers and the conditions associated
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          2  with recycling and not recycling.  I wish I had more

          3  time to talk to you.  I know I wanted to do this in

          4  three minutes.

          5                 Regarding next steps for planning

          6  infrastructure because, as we've seen, now that

          7  we've decided to put recycling infrastructure on the

          8  Brooklyn waterfront, that's going to drive the rest

          9  of the recycling program.  Everybody is going to

         10  have a reason to try and maximize recycling now.  We

         11  need to also be setting up composting facilities, as

         12  well as reuse murphs and reuse murph is basically

         13  where they would take materials off the street, like

         14  these computers, like furniture, like appliances,

         15  and triage them, so that those that are able to be

         16  reused go straight to the thrift shop, those that

         17  need repair go to the repair shop, those that can't

         18  be repaired, but pillaged for spare parts can be,

         19  that can go to the repair shop, and those that can

         20  be recycled, just taken apart, and metal, glass and

         21  plastic be sent to the regular recycling murph.  We

         22  need to have that kind of infrastructure as well to

         23  drive the reuse programs in the City.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you, and

         25  you sort of answered a question I was going ask both
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          2  of you so far, about, you know, the Commissioner

          3  does raise a very practical concern about space, and

          4  I guess it was Robert from recycling, but it is a

          5  very good point that space is an issue in many of

          6  these initiatives, and I understand your point of

          7  more facilities, but I think we have to also look at

          8  the practical side of space and be cognizant of that

          9  and address that as we propose ideas.

         10                 DR. CLARKE:  I've had one idea in

         11  terms of space, and that is that there are already

         12  sanitation garages throughout the City.  In some of

         13  these, it might be interesting to explore the

         14  feasibility of adding stories onto those for such

         15  things as this reuse murph, for example, which is

         16  not heavy duty industry. We're just talking about

         17  taking computers and, or furniture and moving it

         18  from one place to another within a facility, which

         19  would have triage for repair and so forth.  So, that

         20  shouldn't require brand new pristine virgin land.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON: Okay.

         22  Christine.

         23                 MS. DATZ- ROMERO:  My name is

         24  Christine Romero.  I submitted some written

         25  testimony on behalf of the Manhattan Solid Waste
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          2  Advisory Board, which I'm currently the Chair of.

          3  We are delighted to have a Hearing like this about

          4  the future of recycling because a couple of years

          5  ago, quite frankly, we didn't know whether recycling

          6  had a future here in the City.  So, we very happy

          7  about the turnaround that is occurring now and we

          8  have a few suggestions for you.

          9                 The first point I mention in my

         10  written testimony is waste prevention, which, of

         11  course, is the most desirable thing to encourage the

         12  City and its residents to undertake, and we need to

         13  have consistent programs that are targeting this

         14  educational, educate the public about it.  As an

         15  example, we had a waste prevention program in 2001,

         16  which only was funded for one year, and there was

         17  just not enough time to develop, implement and then

         18  also document what these programs could be, could

         19  do, and we really would encourage the City to find

         20  money for these important programs, and make a

         21  sustained commitment to it that's longer than just a

         22  year.

         23                 Deferral of waste prevention, reuse

         24  and recycling also needs to have more resources for

         25  this.  I think Sanitation just won a reward for
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          2  their Waste Less website, which is actually a really

          3  great website and they just need more resources to

          4  continue their work, because I think they're on the

          5  right track there.

          6                 The next item is electronic waste

          7  recycling. You've heard this from a bunch of people.

          8    We should really think about how to tackle this

          9  program, this problem, it's about 34,000 tons of

         10  electronic waste that gets tossed out here in the

         11  City. It's point nine percent of our waste stream

         12  and it creates just a tremendous problem because of

         13  all the toxicity.  I encourage research in models

         14  like the European Union to extend a producer

         15  responsibility, to really shift that burden from the

         16  tax payer to the manufacturers.

         17                 Reuse programs.  I think we all would

         18  agree that there's a lot of reusable items being

         19  tossed in our, in our City here, and there should be

         20  a reuse industry from any place from Goodwill to

         21  smaller community- based thrift shops to really

         22  provide, to capture and provide items that are now

         23  just getting tossed out.  We encourage a pilot

         24  program for curbside collection of reusable goods

         25  and the development of reuse centers, which could
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          2  also serve as job training centers for items that

          3  require minor repair.

          4                 Another item is really recycling in

          5  public spaces. I think the City should really make

          6  an effort to do that because it will just speak

          7  volumes about our commitment to recycling. What are

          8  we telling people who recycle at home in your own

          9  private four walls, but if you go into a park, or if

         10  you use the public transportation, you read the

         11  newspaper, what are you supposed to do with that

         12  when you're done with it?  And, I think it's an

         13  important sort of psychological thing.

         14                 If you go to Europe, you land in the

         15  airport, and there are containers to signs to

         16  facilitate recycling, and I think if we had this

         17  here in the City, you know, we just saying we want

         18  recycling everywhere.  We don't want it just in the

         19  house.  We need to have it in public spaces too.

         20  So, we should get really serious about that because

         21  I think it's, a lot of times it's also like what

         22  you're putting out there for the public to see that

         23  we really mean recycling is here to stay.

         24                 Lastly, I'd like to talk about

         25  composting.  I run a small compost program here in
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          2  the City, and it's close and dear to my heart, and

          3  I'm speaking on behalf of really the citizens plan

          4  that we collected.  It's not so much that all my

          5  ideas here are endorsed by the Manhattan Solid Waste

          6  Advisory Board.  But, obviously, we need to increase

          7  leaf composting right now.

          8                 The City currently runs a pretty good

          9  program that's starting up again this Fall,

         10  actually, and it costs about $62.00 to do yard waste

         11  composting.  Now, as you saw from Maggie's chart,

         12  food waste and compostable materials is the gold

         13  mine.  It's 25 percent of our waste stream, and we

         14  really have to go beyond leaf composting to mind

         15  that sort of material.

         16                 Just to give you some numbers, an

         17  anaerobic in vessel composting system that would

         18  handle source separated organic materials would

         19  probably cost about $75.00 per ton to recycle that

         20  material.  The City also, in 2001, did a very

         21  comprehensive study of mixed solid waste composting,

         22  which also, at the end of the study, they came up

         23  with a number of about $82.00 a ton, per ton, to

         24  compost mixed solid waste.  That trial produced

         25  class one compost, which means it could be sold and
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          2  it's safe to use.  There are other initiatives that

          3  are also on the board for a really long time, like

          4  food composting of source separated materials at

          5  Hunts Point.  I think people have talked about this

          6  now for 20 years.

          7                 Sort of getting back to your comment

          8  about space, I think the City has a lot of

          9  underutilized space that we could use, and if we

         10  think about recycling really as a, also something

         11  that creates jobs and it's an economic engine, you

         12  know, because we're in a world now where we

         13  certainly don't manufacture anything anymore in the

         14  City, but we can create jobs in the manufacturing

         15  industry that deals with our trash, because that's

         16  something we will create for a long, long time.

         17                 I think the City just needs to find

         18  really the will to dedicate some of their spaces

         19  that are now underutilized. There is space in Hunts

         20  Point to do a composting facility, but we need to

         21  really say we want to do this and we should get a go

         22  ahead with it.

         23                 At the same time, I also see a real

         24  opportunity to do a partnership between a commercial

         25  compost facility that would be assisted by the City,
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          2  in terms of, you know, maybe providing some

          3  underutilized City- owned land and to, to come up

          4  with some sort of understanding to also start some

          5  pilot programs for how to tackle food waste from

          6  people here in the City.  I really think that we

          7  should be creative about it.  That we should look at

          8  different models, that something that would have,

          9  would work in Staten Island might not work in

         10  Manhattan, it's not a one fit all.  But, that we

         11  really need to be, get serious about thinking how to

         12  tackle food waste.  Alright, thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you.  I

         14  got your point about funding for your study.  You

         15  have a question Oliver?  Go ahead.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I note the

         17  last speaker, in her written statement, expressed

         18  some support for battery recycling program, although

         19  she didn't say it in her verbal testimony, and I was

         20  wondering whether the other two people here today

         21  see a utility in a deposit system for batteries or

         22  anything else?

         23                 MS. DIMINO:  I think deposit is an

         24  important part of or can be an important part of an

         25  extended producer responsibility program.  I don't
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          2  think deposits in and of themselves necessarily

          3  provide the best option.  So, for example, in the

          4  Bottle Bill situation, not only is there a deposit

          5  return system, but the distributor and ultimately

          6  the bottler is responsible for recycling the

          7  materials and the cans and bottles, and that's, in

          8  fact, why plastic recycling was invented, because

          9  these manufacturers were left with lots and lots of

         10  plastic bottles and had to figure out something to

         11  do with them.

         12                 So, I think deposits are an important

         13  incentive to, for consumers to participate in an

         14  extended producer responsibility type program.  But,

         15  I don't think they're an answer in and of

         16  themselves.  I think you need to have the

         17  manufacturers' responsibility, either financial or

         18  physical, for handling those materials at the end of

         19  their life, in addition to a deposit.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, in a

         21  sense, if the distributor is responsible for taking

         22  the material back, that's what will happen, that's

         23   --

         24                 MS. DIMINO:  That is true.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- What
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          2  happens under the Bottle Bill.

          3                 MS. DIMINO:  That's what happens

          4  under the Bottle Bill, but there are other systems

          5  where the deposit or the unclaimed deposits go into

          6  a publicly funded program that then, for things

          7  like, you know, lead acid batteries or scrap tires

          8  or something like that, where the, it goes into a

          9  publicly funded program that then cleans up old

         10  disposal sites and things like that.  That's not

         11  what I think is a good use of a deposit system.

         12                 So, so there are a lot of different

         13  ways deposit systems can work, is my point, and I

         14  and the grassroots recycling network support them if

         15  they're in the context of extended producer

         16  responsibility.  But, not necessarily if they're not

         17  done in concert with making the manufacturer

         18  responsible, either financially or physically for

         19  handling those materials at the end of their life.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  So, is the

         21  Bottle Bill a good model?

         22                 MS. DIMINO:  Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Okay.  Thank

         24  you.

         25                 DR. CLARKE:  I just agree with what
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          2  Resa just said about EPR and so forth.  But, the

          3  degree to which any type of battery recycling would

          4  take toxic materials out of an incinerator or a

          5  landfill, that's a good thing, and that's the kind

          6  of thing we should be looking for.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  That's my

          8  intent.  Thank you.  Mr. Chairman, you don't have

          9  any further witnesses, do you?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  I do.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  MY staff is

         12  going to remain.  I have another Committee that I --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- Should go

         15  to, but, and I apologize, I'd --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Well, thank you

         17  for your participation --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- Like to

         19  stay for everybody, but  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- For today --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  -- My --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  -- And thank

         23  you for introducing the bill.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Penny

         25  O'Connor (phonetic) will remain to listen to any
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          2  further testimony.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you.

          4  Thank you Council Member.

          5                 DR. CLARKE:  Mr. Chairman, there was

          6  one thing that you had asked, which I wanted to just

          7  answer as well, with regard to composting taking up

          8  space.  Not every composting facility has to be a

          9  wind road type of compost facility, which takes up a

         10  lot of space.

         11                 A lot of the things that we have been

         12  looking into, and which I know the City has also,

         13  are in- vessel composting, which takes up less space

         14  and can be engineered to be up, rather than out.

         15  So, you know, it doesn't have to be, again, on

         16  virgin land, which takes up a great deal of space.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  I understand.

         18  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay, our next panel is Tim Logan

         19  from New York City Zero Waste Campaign and, of

         20  course, Shannon Stone from the New York City Waste

         21  Prevention Coalition, and we're going to bump up in

         22  order, Nicole Tai, because she has somebody with her

         23  that probably can't stay here too long, and also

         24  Carol Libby Hart was here, she couldn't wait any

         25  longer, she submitted a statement and says, quite
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          2  simply, my statement is very brief it can be summed

          3  up in a few words, education, education and more

          4  education.  So, we'll submit that whole statement to

          5  the record.  Okay, go ahead. Tim, you want to start?

          6    Go ahead Nicole.

          7                 MS. TAI:  Afternoon.  Nice to see you

          8  again.  My name is Nicole Tai, and I'm here

          9  testifying on behalf of the Reuse Alliance.  A reuse

         10  member- led network specifically designed to promote

         11  and advance the reuse sector in the New York metro

         12  area.  I'm also head of the Community Board Seven

         13  Sanitation Committee, but I'm not here representing

         14  them today.

         15                 I've testified before the Council

         16  several times on this issue, so I will be brief and

         17  I will probably just let you go ahead with the old

         18  testimony.  But, I just want to reiterate the

         19  importance of reuse in the scheme of smart solid

         20  waste management, as well as to discuss an important

         21  aspect of a new sector, green manufacturing.

         22                 Today, I want to outline why a

         23  significant reuse sector is missing in New York and

         24  what you, specifically, can do about it.  I cannot

         25  speak directly to what is or is missing in the Solid
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          2  Waste Management Plan because it has yet to come

          3  out, or I have yet to see it, as so many of us are

          4  patiently waiting.            As Manager of the

          5  Rebuild It New York City program of the Reuse

          6  Alliance, and one of the founding members of the

          7  Alliance, I'm working on bringing building materials

          8  reuse centers back to New York.  I'm sure you

          9  remember my work at Arrow (phonetic).  My task is

         10  especially difficult due to the enormous cost of

         11  space in the City.  Other reuse centers around the

         12  country either have free space, own their own space,

         13  or are paying minimal rents of 50 cents to one

         14  dollar a square foot, and here in New York City

         15  we're dealing with $12.00 and up.  So, it's a very

         16  difficult task to find space here and that's one of

         17  our main issues and that's mainly why Arrow closed.

         18  There are several centers located near New York

         19  City, in Long Island and Westchester, but nothing as

         20  of yet in New York City as a result of this.

         21                 On behalf of the other organizations

         22  interested in starting these types of firms, you'll

         23  hear from Omar Freilla of Greenworker Cooperative,

         24  and Community Environmental Center.  I have

         25  approached many City agencies and, as they have as
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          2  well, for affordable space with no success.  It's

          3  not because the spaces don't exist, they do.  I ask

          4  the City Council make providing adequate space for

          5  the reuse sector a priority in the Solid Waste

          6  Management Plan, just as the Mayor so provided the

          7  space in my neighborhood, Community Board Seven, to

          8  Hugo Neu for the recycling facility, which is, you

          9  know, we still are yet to come out on our position

         10  on that.

         11                 In  addition to affordable operating

         12  space, the reuse sector needs to be treated as other

         13  industries are, with incentives and subsidies.  In

         14  order to make green manufacturing and reuses a part

         15  of that viable in New York, City Council must make

         16  it a priority to offer these businesses incentives

         17  to operate here in New York and also to create

         18  businesses here in New York.  There's a lot of

         19  people out there willing to do it, they just don't

         20  have any incentive to do it, or any, basically,

         21  support.

         22                 Without subsidies and benefits that

         23  other cities offer, New York will continue to lost

         24  manufacturing jobs and will not be a part of the

         25  green manufacturing boom.  I would ask that you take
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          2  into account all that the Reuse Alliance has

          3  suggested in the past for inclusion in the Solid

          4  Waste Management Plan, as well as any additional

          5  programs you can devise on your own, to make reuse

          6  and green manufacturing that could result from

          7  utilizing these materials and make it a reality in

          8  here in New York.  Thank you.

          9                 MS. STONE:  Good afternoon.  My name

         10  is Shannon Stone and I am the Recording Secretary of

         11  the New York City Waste Prevention Coalition, a

         12  network of organizations and individuals dedicated

         13  to promoting waste prevention as the most

         14  responsible, environmentally sound and cost-

         15  effective means to solving New York City's solid

         16  waste issues.  We commend the Department of

         17  Sanitation's fine work in issuing a long- term

         18  contract for its metal, glass and plastic recyclable

         19  processing plant.

         20                 However, we are concerned that there

         21  is too much focus on recycling in the City's

         22  sustainable solid waste management strategies.

         23  Waste prevention and reuse should not be given short

         24  shrift, as there are more ecologically and

         25  economically effective methods of waste management
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          2  in recycling, and certainly more than export to

          3  landfill.

          4                 Waste prevention is an assemblage of

          5  programs, legislation, incentives and designs to

          6  keep materials from ever being discarded and

          7  processed.  As such, it is estimated to cost as

          8  little as $20.00 per ton, according to the 1992

          9  Solid Waste Management Plan, by far the least costly

         10  method of waste management.

         11                 During the creation of the City's

         12  Comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan

         13  Modification in 2000, the New York City Waste

         14  Prevention Coalition proposed a five- year waste

         15  prevention action plan.  Taking one element from

         16  that plan, the City Council adopted a program for

         17  community- based waste prevention coordinators and

         18  the Administration agreed to fund a three- year

         19  program for $6 million.  Instead, only one- sixth of

         20  this funding occurred.  Eight community- based

         21  organizations each received contracts for $90,000,

         22  and together diverted nearly 200 tons of waste from

         23  the landfill.

         24                 This program's success was cut short

         25  when it was dropped from the budget and the waste
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          2  prevention activities these organizations had just

          3  begun to implement ceased.  We recommend that the

          4  City Council re- establish and expand the

          5  residential waste prevention coordinator program to

          6  include one waste prevention coordinator in every

          7  community district.  The coordinator's primary

          8  responsibility would be to increase waste prevention

          9  in the residential sector.  They would be able to

         10  promote backyard composting and leave it on the lawn

         11  activities, educate households about how and where

         12  they can donate or buy reusable materials, organize

         13  waste prevention block leaders, advertise waste

         14  prevention shopping campaigns, and coordinate

         15  collections of electronics and hazardous materials.

         16                 Another sector that produces a lot of

         17  preventable waste that tax payers pay to landfill is

         18  the institutional sector, made up of schools, City

         19  agencies, hospitals, museums, and other cultural

         20  institutions.  There is little incentive for these

         21  agencies to reduce waste since they receive free

         22  disposal services from the Department of Sanitation.

         23                 One of the first things that can be

         24  done is to increase the number of environmental

         25  purchasing coordinators at the Department of
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          2  Citywide Administrative Services to increase

          3  recycling and waste prevention activities within

          4  City agencies, and also to increase the purchase of

          5  recycled and waste preventing products.

          6                 We also recommend the creation of a

          7  waste prevention technical assistance center to

          8  serve public institutions.  While public

          9  institutions have a more centralized structure than

         10  thousands of individual homes, public institutions

         11  are so different from one another that they require

         12  individual waste prevention strategies.

         13                 The City Council could also create a

         14  waste prevention group within the Department of

         15  Education to weave waste prevention and reuse into

         16  the curriculum, just as recycling has been done in

         17  the past.  Also, the waste prevention committee

         18  could eliminate the use of disposable utensils and

         19  trays in schools cafeterias be enforcing that

         20  schools with dishwashers use them and study the

         21  feasibility of investing in dishwashers in other

         22  schools.

         23                 The institutional waste prevention

         24  coordinators could study schools more in depth to

         25  determine more ways that they can reduce waste.  The
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          2  environmental group council on the environment of

          3  New York City, for example, was able to reduce waste

          4  at Lafayette High School by 12 percent, or 11 tons

          5  per year, by increasing double- side copying, using

          6  remanufactured toner cartridges, using durable

          7  cafeteria trays, and increasing its recycling

          8  program.  The changes resulted in $2,540.00 in

          9  reduced purchasing costs and $500.00 in revenue from

         10  the sale of recycled paper.  If all City schools

         11  were able to reduce their waste by 12 percent, over

         12  14,000 tons of waste would be prevented from the

         13  landfill or incinerator.

         14                 Hospitals within the Health and

         15  Hospital Corporation are another example of

         16  institutions with very unique waste prevention

         17  needs.  We recommend separate waste prevention

         18  specialists for this type of institution, who

         19  understand what is safe to reuse and where toxic

         20  materials can be phased out.

         21                 Each of the waste prevention programs

         22  I've just described needs a capital fund to

         23  implement the recommendations of waste prevention

         24  staff.  In the report, Reaching for Zero: The

         25  Citizens Plan for Zero Waste in New York City, it's
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          2  recommend that we establish a revolving capital fund

          3  that uses money from the savings accrued by waste

          4  prevention practices to pay back the initial waste

          5  prevention grant.

          6                 In conclusion, while the New York

          7  City Waste Prevention Coalition fully supports

          8  recycling, it is only one branch of sustainable

          9  solid waste management.  To really plan for a future

         10  sustainable solid waste management strategy,

         11  commitment to funding, infrastructure, programs and

         12  legislation to promote waste prevention and reuse,

         13  as well as organics collection for composting, must

         14  be even higher priorities.  Thank you.

         15                 MR. LOGAN:  Hi.  Timothy Logan.  I'm

         16  the Lead Organizer with the New York City Zero Waste

         17  Campaign, and I want to thank you for having this

         18  Hearing today, and I want to thank the number of

         19  advocates that came out today as well.  We have a

         20  pretty wide cross- section that, through the

         21  campaign, we were able to bring out.  I'm also going

         22  to submit copies of written testimony from a couple

         23  of advocates that couldn't be here, from Jacquelyn

         24  Ottman, Principle of J. Ottman Consulting Eco

         25  Innovation and Green Marketing, she's submitting two
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          2  chapters of her book, Green Marketing, and I'm also

          3  submitting testimony from Wendy Brawer, Director and

          4  Founder of the Green Map System, and she's talking

          5  about public space recycling and how important an

          6  opportunity that is.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you Mr.

          8  Logan, and let me thank you, on behalf of everyone

          9  in the City of New York for your continued advocacy

         10  on these issues.

         11                 MR. LOGAN:  I appreciate that.  As

         12  this Committee hears today about the future of

         13  recycling in New York City and asks the questions,

         14  where do we go from here?  How do we increase

         15  materials to be recycling and reused, such as

         16  electronic equipment, composting, more plastics and

         17  reusable materials? It is imperative that the

         18  Committee listens closely to those before it today

         19  testifying, about things like intensive waste

         20  prevention, improved extended producer

         21  responsibility models, going beyond deposits,

         22  intensive reuse, deconstruction, intensive

         23  recycling, electronics recycling, market

         24  development, recycling industrial parks, the

         25  shortfalls of plastics, particularly PVC, public
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          2  space recycling, intensive composting, opportunities

          3  for compostable plastics, green marketing, economic

          4  development, invaluable job creation.  I believe all

          5  these topics will be or have been covered by

          6  speakers here today.

          7                 The Council of the City of New York

          8  and the Administration must always keep in mind the

          9  concept of sustainability as the forefront of their

         10  planning, particularly when looking at solid waste

         11  management.  There are three spheres that need, need

         12  to be considered for balance when we look at solid

         13  waste, and most anything else, for that matter,

         14  economics, environment and social equity, or equity.

         15                 These are so important because if we

         16  don't have balance, we may achieve one at the

         17  expense of another.  For instance, we can perhaps

         18  come up with the perfect equity in an environmental

         19  program, and we can't pay for it.  Alternatively, we

         20  could come up with a pretty environmentally sound

         21  and economically feasible plan that dumps everything

         22  on a few low income communities of color, perhaps.

         23  Alternatively, we could certainly do the same with

         24  any number of things.

         25                 When the Council and the new SWMP,
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          2  when the Council considers the new SWMP in regards

          3  to economics, they have to ask questions like, is

          4  this cost- effectiveness thoroughly evaluated across

          5  all options, including existing and future costs and

          6  trends?  If the City has taken a very hard look at

          7  the cost of waste export over the last seven years,

          8  it's clear that export has gone up from $54.00 a ton

          9  to $75.00 a ton.  Under the interim contracts, and

         10  the price of export is only expected to increase,

         11  with improvements and waste movements to

         12  containerization, these costs will likely drop.

         13  But, the overall upward trend is expected to

         14  increase.

         15                 Embracing a zero waste program in

         16  spite of comments earlier by the Department of

         17  Sanitation, in the immediate future, for the long-

         18  term, offers the City the best of opportunities to

         19  reduce or eliminate export costs and to re invest in

         20  New York City.  The new, we have to ask if the new

         21  SWMP provides adequate competition.  The City must

         22  not pin themselves into capitalistic corner by

         23  failing to support the competition that has always

         24  been the trademark of successful privatization. So,

         25  as we look toward privatization in our economic
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          2  sustainability, if we're looking at just one

          3  company, that's potentially problematic, unless the

          4  City has control of that infrastructure.

          5                 As we move forward, looking at other

          6  areas, like the environment, the City needs to ask

          7  questions like, does this, does the plan give

          8  preference to environmentally sound solid waste

          9  options, like waste prevention, reuse composting and

         10  recycling?  These four segments make up the four

         11  major segments or pieces of zero included in the

         12  zero waste plan and are, therefore, necessary

         13  requirements for environmentally sustainable new

         14  SWMP.  If significant attention is not given to all

         15  of these major pieces of zero, then the planning

         16  process has failed to do an adequate job at

         17  addressing opportunities to avoid damage to the

         18  environment and waste of resources.

         19                 Does the new SWMP prioritize the

         20  prevention of environmental impacts?  If the concern

         21  for impact to the world around us, including our

         22  air, land and water quality, is not addressed, then

         23  one cannot expect to have an environmentally

         24  sustainable plan.  The time has come for an

         25  aggressive redress of historic, of the historic turn
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          2  to a throw away society.  Well, a throw away society

          3  may still be the most likely future.  The reality

          4  must be that we are recovering the commodities that

          5  make up our waste and returning them to our products

          6  and packaging needs.

          7                 As we move towards the third area, it

          8  reminds me of another dream.  I remember the

          9  nightmare that you had, and humbly, I try to follow

         10  in the footsteps of another person who had a dream

         11  some years ago, in regard to social equity.  I think

         12  that's really where the zero waste movement in New

         13  York City got started, was the concept that there

         14  were certain neighborhoods, both inside the City and

         15  outside the City, that were impacted by waste

         16  handling and waste management procedures.  That's

         17  really where we come from.

         18                 So, does the new SWMP substantially

         19  improve the substandard conditions of the commercial

         20  waste system and its transfer facilities?  The City

         21  must truly understand and implement fair share

         22  requirements under the City Charter to spread out

         23  the siting of facilities for all waste and quote

         24  unquote zero waste- related infrastructure.  These

         25  facilities should not be considered separately, but
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          2  rather must be considered collectively with the

          3  understanding that even the best of facilities,

          4  those designated for sustainable handling of

          5  packaging or products at the end of their life, do

          6  have impacts and their burdens must be shared in an

          7  equitable manner, rather than dumping on low income

          8  communities of color.

          9                 Does the new SWMP correct the

         10  inequitable burdens of solid waste in New York City,

         11  thus improving social equity for both burdens and

         12  benefits of the overall solid waste system?  The

         13  City must proactively look for opportunities to site

         14  necessary infrastructure for transport of recyclable

         15  and compostable items, either by using the same

         16  marine and rail- based transport facilities planned

         17  for use with waste and/or siting additional

         18  facilities in neighborhoods not otherwise impacted

         19  by waste transport.

         20                 Now, when it comes down to it, I

         21  think it's somewhat of a sorry state, I'm sorry to

         22  have to say this, that the Solid Waste Management

         23  Plan, not including appendix and attachments, et

         24  cetera, is about this long, which is, for those who

         25  are listening to the record later, less than a
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          2  centimeter, maybe a 100 pages or so.  And, the New

          3  York City Zero Waste Campaign put out 200 pages back

          4  in June, about the alternatives that are given 22

          5  pages alone by the City.

          6                 If we're going to get serious about

          7  how we deal with waste in the City and, and Mayors

          8  have talked about it since at least Koch's time, we

          9  have to be serious about what the alternatives are,

         10  embracing them, investing in them now.  I think

         11  we've heard about composting being talked about for

         12  20 years now, not happening.  We cannot afford to

         13  push these issues off again and again.  I do

         14  appreciate what I've seen so far in the SWMP about

         15  the idea of a 70 percent diversion rate by 2015  I

         16  think it's amusing that they would suggest a 70

         17  percent diversion by 2015, and yet suggest that zero

         18  waste is impossible.  It seems like 30 percent in

         19  the next ten years is not so unviable (sic).

         20                 So, I encourage the City Council to,

         21  to understand that they've suggested that their goal

         22  is 70 percent by 2015 and, therefore, that a zero

         23  waste goal within 20 years is entirely realistic,

         24  and if you have to put in whatever legal language to

         25  avoid lawsuits, it's understood by those advocates.

                                                            144

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Okay.  Thank

          3  you Tim, as always.  Okay, the last panel is Omar

          4  Freilla, from the Green Worker's Cooperative, Kim

          5  Heisman from POP Sustainability and Joanne Derwin

          6  from the Urban Agenda New York Apollo.  Please go

          7  ahead, and we, when we have familiar faces we try to

          8  mix it up so that it's fair, but if anybody's here

          9  and has a sense of urgency, just get my attention

         10  next time and we'll try to move you to the head of

         11  the list, okay?

         12                 MS. HEISMAN:  Okay, thank you very

         13  much.  My name is Kim Heisman.  I'm the Executive

         14  Director and Founder of POP Sustainability, which is

         15  using popular culture to target a mainstream

         16  audience and popularize the idea of sustainable

         17  lifestyles.  Can you hear me?  Okay, thank you.

         18  Should I repeat myself?  You heard me?  Okay.

         19                 So, today I wanted to talk about

         20  plastics, particularly we're interested in plastics

         21  for a number of reasons that first plastics are made

         22  from a non- renewable resource, petroleum.  They use

         23  about as much as five percent of our national

         24  production of petroleum, or national use of

         25  petroleum rather.  Plastics involve carcinogens and
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          2  can be released during production, use or disposal

          3  of that plastic, particularly PVC is, is one of the

          4  bad plastics.

          5                 In fact, in New York City, we have

          6  heard that there are increased levels of, there are

          7  increased coincidences of cancer in Staten Island

          8  around, possibly caused by the fact that there is

          9  the, the landfill.  Plastics also are hazardous to

         10  our environment, you know, by disposing of them, we,

         11  you know, we're, they can be getting into the water,

         12  the waste streams. Their disposal is particularly

         13  complicated because we can't necessarily incinerate

         14  them very easily, and they do sit in landfills for

         15  up to 500 years, sometimes longer.  Every time we

         16  use a plastic fork or plastic bottle, that, you

         17  know, if it's not recycled, is going to be there for

         18  ten more generations.

         19                 Currently, the Department of

         20  Sanitation estimates that we are using about, you

         21  know, 25 percent of plastics by volume.  So, 25

         22  percent of our waste is, that's being, that we're

         23  disposing of and is going to the landfill is

         24  plastics, and that we're currently recycling only

         25  about five percent of our plastics.
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          2                 So, POP Sustainability wishes to

          3  promote not an anti- plastic campaign or a losing

          4  proposition that would be promoting less plastic use

          5  or recycling as it stands today.  We really want to

          6  encourage an emerging market opportunity and to

          7  bring up this opportunity to the City Council and to

          8  the Department of Sanitation.  We'd like to take

          9  advantage of the new better plastics that are now

         10  coming out.  They're non- toxic, they're

         11  biodegradable, they're compostable.  They can be put

         12  into the anaerobic digesters.  They're vegetable-

         13  based, and these better plastics are already in

         14  production, they're already available.  There's,

         15  there are plastics for one ton use disposables, such

         16  plastic bottles and cups, salad trays, and there are

         17  also plastics in the form of fabrics.  For example,

         18  clothing and interiors for homes that are already in

         19  production, already available, in limited ways, to

         20  the consumer, on the market.

         21                 So, we wanted to introduce the idea

         22  that, you know, we can educate consumers about the

         23  benefits of these better plastics, establish a new

         24  market for these better plastics, and then promote

         25  also the zero waste agenda, because these better
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          2  plastics really work much better if they are, if

          3  they can be put into composting, into a composting

          4  situation.  So, we want to promote the zero waste

          5  agenda alongside the better plastics.

          6                 So, we call on the New York City

          7  Council and the Department of Sanitation to work

          8  with us to find more creative ways to encourage the

          9  introduction of these bio- plastics and to take

         10  advantage of these market opportunities that, you

         11  know, producers have that are, you know, they're

         12  interested in introducing these products to the

         13  consumers.  Some of these corporations, by the name

         14  are, by the way, their names are Dupont and Cargil

         15  Dow, some of the larger producers.

         16                 We would like to see increased

         17  dialogue with the City about possibly even some

         18  marketplace, market- based bioplastics efforts that

         19  might work a little bit like our new New York City

         20  CMO's, Joe Perello's (phonetic) programs that are

         21  not only promoting public good, but also bringing in

         22  the opportunity for these products to, to be branded

         23  in the public eye, using, having New York City

         24  become somewhat of a test site for the introduction

         25  of some of these bioplastics and, in fact, being a
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          2  leader, than in City management of waste.

          3                 The potential here is quite great.

          4  If we are starting to introduce these plastics, and,

          5  along with composting and anaerobic digestion,

          6  within five years we may be able to start reusing,

          7  reducing about 13 percent of our current waste

          8  stream.  And, in fact, would be able to, you know,

          9  add that to the organic waste stream that would also

         10  be composted, diverting about 33 percent of our

         11  entire waste stream to a useful organic product.

         12                 So, with that, I'd like to again say

         13  thank you very much for the opportunity to speak and

         14  I encourage anyone who's interested to contact me.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Well,

         17  certainly, if you have more information or data or

         18  places that we can go to learn about this, if you'd

         19  let us know, then we'd certainly be interesting in

         20  looking at it.

         21                 MS. HEISMAN:  Okay, thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         23                 MS. DERWIN:  Hi, my name is Joanne

         24  Derwin, and I am Co- Project Director of an

         25  initiative called Urban Agenda, which is a joint
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          2  project of the New York City Central Labor Council

          3  and Queens College Labor Resource Center, and Urban

          4  Agenda's spearheading a coalition called New York

          5  Apollo, which pulls together unions, environmental

          6  advocates, business leaders and educators, hoping to

          7  use energy and environmental business as a way to

          8  create jobs and promote environmental justice.

          9                 I've shared with all of you our

         10  recent, recently launched ten point plan for a

         11  strong economy and a healthy City. The reason we

         12  call ourselves New York Apollo is because much like

         13  the challenge that President Kennedy gave to all of

         14  us, that we could bring a man to the moon, we can,

         15  by working together, create a new sector of jobs

         16  that are critical to the New York City's economy.

         17                 You know, as most of you have

         18  probably heard, the Community Service Society's

         19  recent report that found that approximately 50

         20  percent of African American men in our City's

         21  communities are unemployed, makes the need for new

         22  job creation methods all the more critical, and

         23  examples like Hugo Neu's and what they're planning

         24  to do in Brooklyn just really exemplify the

         25  potential of green collar jobs.
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          2                 I, you know, in the, in trying to

          3  respect the time, I had planned on saying some other

          4  things that have already been covered earlier, which

          5  I won't go into.  But, the only thing that I would

          6  hope that the Council would also do, is please work

          7  with the sanitation workers and ask for their

          8  experience.  You know, these are the front line

          9  workers that are dealing with issues of recycling,

         10  trash collection, waste management, and I would

         11  really encourage you to ask them about their

         12  experience, their insights and their opinion.  And,

         13  then just to let you know that we --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  You can be sure

         15  that, you can be rest assured that we do that.

         16                 MS. DERWIN:  Great.  Thank you.  That

         17  we would be happy to work with you on Intro. 70 and

         18  other future legislation and demonstration projects

         19  that support zero waste, as well as other

         20  initiatives that strengthen our economy and our

         21  City's health.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Thank you.

         23  It's nice to meet you and your organization, thank

         24  you.

         25                 MS. DERWIN:  Thank you.

                                                            151

          1  SANITATION AND SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

          2                 MR. FREILLA:  Oh, I turned it off.

          3  Good afternoon.  My name is Omar Freilla, I'm the

          4  Director of an organization called Green Worker

          5  Cooperatives.  We are a new organization that was

          6  founded to create jobs, create the kind of green

          7  collar jobs that Joanne was referring to.  It's an

          8  organization that's come out of the environmental

          9  justice movement, and realizing that we are really

         10  tired of having polluting facilities being sited in

         11  communities like the South Bronx, where we have an

         12  overabundance of waste transfer stations. None of

         13  that is any news.

         14                 I'm really here to talk about two

         15  particular issues that have been covered by other

         16  speakers.  I want to talk about them on the ground,

         17  as we experience them in the South Bronx, and two

         18  projects that we're currently working on to really

         19  implement building materials reuse center and a

         20  recycling industrial park in the South Bronx.  But,

         21  firstly, I should say that Green Worker Cooperatives

         22  is a part of the zero waste campaign and we've been

         23  involved in the effort and steadfastly strongly

         24  support it, as well as the New York Apollo Alliance

         25  and the effort to really create these jobs, the new
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          2  generation of jobs.

          3                 I'll start first with the building

          4  materials reuse center, the idea of reuse and

          5  advocating for reuse and actually creating the

          6  infrastructure for it.  We are currently working to

          7  develop our first worker- owned business, which I

          8  didn't mention, is really what we do.  We create

          9  businesses that are owned by the workers that are

         10  engaged in environmentally friendly remanufacturing

         11  reuse green manufacturing.

         12                 The first one that we're working on

         13  is a building materials reuse center.  You could

         14  think of it sort as a Home Depot for used building

         15  materials.  This really involves creating an outlet

         16  much like the one that Arrow had developed that

         17  Nicole Tai had worked on, where we would be able to

         18  provide materials for contractors, property

         19  managers, artists, do- it- yourselfers, home owners,

         20  where they can come and get anything that they

         21  really need that is pulled out of buildings.

         22                 Our main obstacle, however, is

         23  actually being able to find space, being able to

         24  find low cost space.  Nicole Tai had mentioned some

         25  of the numbers before and the problems with the
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          2  rents.  Their experience is one that we, you know,

          3  we really relied on, as being a, being a guide for

          4  us and saying we're not going to move into a

          5  project, move into a site, if we don't believe we

          6  can really pay the rent, you know, after a year, and

          7  will wind up shutting down.  That's not something

          8  that we want to put our, you know, workers into a

          9  position of, particularly if those workers are

         10  owners.

         11                 So, we are on a mission to really

         12  find space. We've talked with, you know, we've

         13  talked with the, government agencies and elected

         14  officials, we've talked with churches and haven't

         15  really been able to find it.  I'd actually would

         16  like to say that Community Environmental Center is

         17  another organization that is actively developing a

         18  building materials reuse center. They actually have

         19  a crew that is doing the deconstruction work that

         20  the Department of Design and Construction is

         21  promoting, and actually they're doing one right now

         22  for the Durst (phonetic) Organization, a major

         23  Midtown developer.

         24                 I was at their center yesterday,

         25  which is really just one portion of a warehouse that
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          2  they're renting in Williamsburg, and they're

          3  struggling just on that space.  They don't expect to

          4  be able to stay there any much longer.  They're

          5  looking for a way out, but they need an additional

          6  space.  So, whether it's in Queens or whether it's

          7  in the South Bronx, there is a demand for space.

          8  That's desperate.

          9                 So, I actually would like to

         10  recommend two things for the Council.  One is that

         11  the Council call for the creation of reuse centers

         12  in the Solid Waste Management Plan, and work, urge

         13  the New York City Economic Development Corporation

         14  and Department of Sanitation to provide space for

         15  that kind of facility.

         16                 The second, which is something that's

         17  been called for before is, is the creation, I'm

         18  sorry, is for the, the re establishment of the waste

         19  prevention coordinators program, which is what

         20  helped Nicole Tai to be able to actually start the

         21  reuse center previously.  But, to be able to bring

         22  that back and augment it, so that we can actually

         23  have an initial source of support for at least those

         24  three to five years, when it'll, it's critical to

         25  really build a market for used buildings materials,
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          2  because there isn't one right now, and it's

          3  something that needs to be developed over time.

          4  Until you can get to the point where it's thriving

          5  and it can, it's able to pay $10.00 a square foot,

          6  we need to be able to have that support to cover the

          7  first three to five years.  So, that's the first

          8  item.

          9                 The second item that we are working

         10  on is the establishment of a Bronx recycling

         11  industrial park.  It's something that I'm really

         12  happy that other speakers that have come up here

         13  today have really called on City- wide.  We're

         14  actually trying to do it now in the South Bronx, and

         15  we do have a site that we currently don't have our

         16  hands on, but it's something that there is a site

         17  that is available, that the City has an opportunity

         18  to actually take hold of.  It's a 28 acre site in

         19  Hunts Point, where you have an owner who has

         20  millions of dollars in back taxes and is proposing

         21  to build a power plant, something that no one in the

         22  community supports and people are rallying against.

         23                 What we have proposed is the creation

         24  of a conversion of this site to a recycling

         25  industrial park.  We're talking about a site that's
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          2  ideal because there's waterfront access for a barge,

          3  there's also rail access.  We see it as an

          4  opportunity to really remove an area that has been

          5  eyed by waste transfer stations and numerous other

          6  polluting industries, you know, and really dedicate

          7  this to something that would create the kind of jobs

          8  that are really necessary and that we really look

          9  forward.

         10                 We have talked to numerous, numerous

         11  industries that are also interested in this, three

         12  that I can, I know off the top of my head that have

         13  said that they would like to locate onto a site like

         14  this that would serve as major tenants.  I'll

         15  mention one of them here today and that's Hugo Neu,

         16  which has received the 20- year contract.  You know,

         17  they, and others are really interested in being able

         18  to move on to a site where the City has made a

         19  commitment to really provide the kinds of resources

         20  to really create a green manufacturing sector.

         21                 If you can think of, think of the

         22  evolution of airports.  You know, that provides a

         23  good example of how you can really create a whole

         24  new industry.  Prior to the development of airports,

         25  there was very little air travel.  There was very
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          2  little airline, much of an airline industry.  After

          3  the creation of airports, you had the concentration

          4  of different industries, you had places for people

          5  to go, you had an infrastructure that was created.

          6  We need that kind of an infrastructure here.

          7                 So, I'm asking on the City Council to

          8  one, call for the creation of recycling industrial

          9  parks in the Solid Waste Management Plan, work with

         10  ADC and DSNY to be able to get that off the ground,

         11  and also to be able to focus on construction and

         12  demolition waste, and if we have a recycling

         13  industrial facility, recycling industrial park in

         14  the South Bronx, where you have a facility that's

         15  able to take C&D waste and recycle it, export what

         16  can be recycled for the moment by barge or by rail,

         17  then we would like a commitment from the City that

         18  it would create that facility and also phase out the

         19  existing land- based transfer stations.

         20                 Hunts Point and the South Bronx have

         21  a high number of waste transfer stations.  Pretty

         22  much all of those, with the exception of three, are

         23  construction and demolition waste.  So, we ask for

         24  the City to really focus on that, as well as

         25  foreclosing on the property that I mentioned for a
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          2  recycling industrial park and actually moving,

          3  moving that process forward, so that we can actually

          4  create the future that many of the people here have

          5  talked about today.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MCMAHON:  Certainly, on

          7  the broader issues, we will take your advice and

          8  take it with us as we go and address this Solid

          9  Waste Management Plan, and on the local land use

         10  issues, you should certainly talk to the Borough

         11  President and the Council Member there for that

         12  district, because that's something that they would

         13  initiative.  Thank you very much, thank you for the

         14  insight.

         15                 Thank you all, the faithful, for

         16  coming today.  I want to thank the staff, Carmen

         17  Cognetta and the Counsel and the Co- Counsel Andrew

         18  Sterrer, and the Sergeant of Arms and everyone else

         19  whose been here today.  I hereby adjourn this

         20  meeting and look forward to seeing you all as we

         21  move forward to analyze and comment on the

         22  comprehensive Solid Waste Management Plan and I

         23  hereby adjourn this meeting.

         24                 (Meeting adjourned at 4:02 p.m.)

         25                 (Following written testimony was read
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          2  into the record)

          3

          4  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          5  CAROL LIBBY HART

          6  MEMBER, BROOKLYN SOLID WASTE ADVISORY BOARD,

          7  CITYWIDE RECYCLING ADVISORY BOARD, AND CONCERNED

          8  CITIZENS OF BENSONHURST

          9                 Good afternoon, Chairman McMahon and

         10  members of the committee.  Thank you for affording

         11  me this opportunity to speak.  My name is Carol

         12  Libby Hart and I am a member of the Brooklyn Solid

         13  Waste Advisory Board, the Citywide Recycling

         14  Advisory Board and Concerned Citizens of Bensonhurst

         15  and today I am speaking for myself.

         16                 My statement is very brief.  It can

         17  be summed up in a few words: EDUCATION, EDUCATION

         18  and more EDUCATION!  While all of us in the

         19  environmental community applaud the idea of

         20  increased recycling and adding items to the

         21  recycling mix we also feel that these efforts will

         22  not come to fruition without more public education.

         23  And by education I do not mean only sending out

         24  fliers to homeowners and television and newspaper

         25  advertising but I mean human people going out into
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          2  communities and working with residents.  These

          3  people have a name; they are called recycling

          4  coordinators and before they became extinct, they

          5  once existed in every borough.  The last time the

          6  DOS budget was approved I heard that the recycling

          7  coordinators would be reinstated, apparently this

          8  did not happen.  The recycling coordinators could

          9  play a pivotal role in identifying the problems

         10  surrounding non- recyclers and working with those

         11  sectors that are currently having problems with

         12  their recycling programs or are not recycling at

         13  all.  This would include high rise buildings and the

         14  New York City Housing Authority.  The implementation

         15  of a small group of recycling coordinators would not

         16  cost the city a lot of money but could improve our

         17  recycling efforts to a great degree and thus prove

         18  to be a very cost effective measure.  Thank you

         19  again for allowing me to speak.

         20

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         22  JACQUELYN A. OTTMAN

         23  FOUNDER AND CHIEF ECO- INNOVATOR OF J. OTTMAN

         24  CONSULTING, INC.

         25                 As Founder and "Chief Eco- Innovator"
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          2  of J. Ottman Consulting, Inc., I have been thinking

          3  up creative ways to cut down on waste since I first

          4  dragged home treasures from my neighbors' trash at

          5  age four.  I wrote the book on green marketing-

          6  literally.  Green Marketing:  Opportunity for

          7  Innovation was named one of the top business books

          8  of the year in 1998, and has been translated into

          9  five languages.  I also write extensively for and

         10  edit The Ottman Report on Green Marketing and Eco-

         11  Innovation.  I have spoken to every major conference

         12  on sustainability and green business, as well as

         13  corporate forums at IBM, 3M, Philips Electronics,

         14  and General Electric, to name a few.

         15                 I sit on the advisory boards of the

         16  Centre for Sustainable Design (U.K.), Center for

         17  Small Business and the Environment in Washington,

         18  DC, and the Corporate Communications Institute at

         19  Fairleigh Dickinson University, as well as the

         20  editorial board of the Journal for Sustainable

         21  Product Design.  I have chaired the jury of the

         22  American Marketing Association's Special Edison

         23  Awards for Environmental Achievement and I am a

         24  former co- chair of the New York chapter of O2, the

         25  global network for green designers.
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          2                 I strongly believe that the concept

          3  of Zero Waste is the direction and goal that New

          4  York City should be embracing in the "New SWMP" as

          5  we consider planning for the next 20 years. I'm

          6  attaching chapters one Greener than Ever and three

          7  Why Conventional Marketing Won't Work to briefly

          8  explain why green marketing is so important for our

          9  DSNY programming and the City as a whole and to

         10  further illustrate what tactical marketing

         11  opportunities we need to succeed in a competitive

         12  world.

         13                 I encourage you to visit my website

         14  www.greenmarketing.com for more information and/or

         15  to pick up a copy of the entire book.  I want to

         16  thank the Sanitation and Solid Waste Committee for

         17  the opportunity to bring this discussion to the

         18  forefront early in the "New SWMP" approval process.

         19

         20  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         21  WENDY E. BRAWER

         22  DIRECTOR, GREEN MAP SYSTEM

         23                 Thank you for holding this important

         24  hearing on public space recycling.

         25                 As a past member of the Manhattan
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          2  SWAB, an eco design educator, and director of both

          3  for- profit (Modern World Design) and not- for-

          4  profit (Green Map System) entities that promote

          5  sustainability, I applaud development of a recycling

          6  program that provides the public with receptacles to

          7  properly recycle their discards while on the

          8  sidewalks, in the parks and in other public spaces

          9  in the five boroughs.

         10                 As environmental consultant for the

         11  Times Square BID in the mid- 90's, I designed

         12  Deposit Banks for bottles and cans that captured a

         13  significant portion of the recyclable discards.  I

         14  also researched public space recycling in other

         15  cities across the US and around the world and worked

         16  with Pratt Institute design students on this

         17  important issue.

         18                 I find it difficult to explain why

         19  the City would require all New Yorkers to recycle at

         20  home, their place of employment and at school, but

         21  when in public space, there was so little effort to

         22  promote responsible recycling nor to collect the

         23  empty beverage containers, newspapers, et cetera

         24  that overflow the waste baskets.

         25                 Reinforcing proper disposal takes
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          2  consistency, and a well- designed public space

          3  recycling campaign and elegant yet eye- catching

          4  receptacles could be extremely effective at raising

          5  recycling rates in NYC residences, work places,

          6  schools as well as public spaces.  I encourage you

          7  to use the exterior space on the receptacles to

          8  remind New Yorkers of related websites and benefits

          9  of recycling and waste reduction as an everyday

         10  action.

         11                 It's time to see the City get behind

         12  the recycling effort in this important way.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 4:02 p.m.)
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          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 20th day of October 2004.
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          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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